
AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

DATE: June 12, 2025 

TIME: Closed Session –   5:00 P.M. 
Regular Session – 6:00 P.M. 

PLACE: Woodley Island Marina Meeting Room, 601 Startare Drive, Eureka, CA 95501 

How to Observe and Participate in the Meeting:  

• In Person - Members of the public may observe and participate in the meeting by
attending in person at Woodley Island Marina Meeting Room, 601 Startare Drive, Eureka,
CA 95501.

• Virtually – Members of the public may observe and participate in the meeting virtually
using the Zoom platform. Please note that any technical issues, regardless of cause, that
prevents or delays public observation or participation via vitual means is not a basis to
stop or delay the meeting, and, for this reason, members of the public should prioritize in-
person attendance.

Zoom link:  https://us02web.zoom.us/j/6917934402 
Meeting ID: 691 793 4402 
One tap mobile 
(669) 900-9128, 6917934402#

The Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District is committed to providing 
equal access to all District programs, services, and activities by providing accommodations 
for individuals with qualified disabilities as required under the Americans with Disabilities 
Act. With 72 hours prior notice, a request for reasonable accommodation or modification can 
be made. Please contact the Clerk of the Board at (707) 443-0801 or by email at 
mhiley@humboldtbay.org  

Email Public Comment: To submit public comment to the Board, please email 
mhiley@humboldtbay.org; provide your name and the agenda item number(s) on which you 
wish to comment. All public comment submitted after the agenda has been published will be 
included with the administrative record after the fact. Any written materials related to an 
item on this agenda submitted to the Board of Commissioners less than 72 hours prior to the 
Board meeting and are subject to the Public Records Act, are available for public inspection 
in the Harbor District office at 601 Startare Drive,  Eureka, during regular business hours. 
Persons wishing to file documentation on any agenda item for the official record must submit 
an original and seven (7) copies of each document to the Clerk of the Board of Commissioners 
at the District Office, 601 Startare Drive in Eureka. Documentation includes, but is not limited 
to, written correspondence, audio and video tapes, maps, photographs, and petitions. Failure 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/6917934402
mailto:mhiley@humboldtbay.org
mailto:mhiley@humboldtbay.org


Agenda for June 12, 2025 Regular Board Meeting 

2 

to submit the required number of copies will result in the document(s) not being placed in the 
official record. 

1. Call to Order Closed Session at 5:00 P.M.

2. Public Comment

Note: This portion of the Agenda allows the public to speak to the Board on the closed
session items. Each speaker is limited to speak for a period of three (3) minutes regarding 
each item on the Closed Session Agenda. The three (3) minute time limit may not be 
transferred to other speakers. The three (3) minute time limit for each speaker may be 
extended by the President of the Board of Commissioners or the Presiding Member of the 
Board of Commissioners.  

3. Move to Closed Session

a) CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS. Property: Assessor’s Parcel
Numbers 401-112-021 and 401-112-024, Samoa Peninsula, Humboldt County,
California District negotiators: Chris Mikkelsen, Executive Director; Ryan Plotz,
District Counsel. Negotiating party: California Marine Investments LLC. Under
negotiation: price and terms of payment.

4. Call to Order Regular Session at 6:00 P.M. and Roll Call

5. Pledge of Allegiance

6. Report on Closed Session

7. Public Comment

Note: This portion of the Agenda allows the public to speak to the Board on the various
issues NOT itemized on this Agenda.  A member of the public may also request that a 
matter appearing on the Consent Calendar be pulled and discussed separately. Pursuant 
to the Brown Act, the Board may not take action on any item that does not appear on 
the Agenda. Each speaker is limited to speak for a period of three (3) minutes regarding 
each item on the Agenda. Each speaker is limited to speak for a period of three (3) 
minutes during the PUBLIC COMMENT portion of the Agenda regarding items of special 
interest to the public NOT appearing on the Agenda that are within the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the Board of Commissioners. The three (3) minute time limit may not be 
transferred to other speakers. The three (3) minute time limit for each speaker may be 
extended by the President of the Board of Commissioners or the Presiding Member of the 
Board of Commissioners at the regular meeting of the District. 



Agenda for June 12, 2025 Regular Board Meeting 

3 

8. Consent Calendar

a) Adopt Minutes for May 8, 2025 Regular Board Meeting
b) Receive District Financial Reports for April 2025

9. Communications, Reports, and Correspondence Received

a) Correspondence Received
b) Executive Director’s Report
c) Staff Reports
d) District Counsel Report
e) District Treasurer Report
f) District Engineer Report
g) District Planner Report
h) Commissioner and Committee Reports

10. Unfinished Business

a) Receive Status Update Regarding the Humboldt Bay Offshore Wind Heavy Lift
Marine Terminal Project

Recommendation: Receive the report and provide direction.

Summary: The Board has requested a monthly update regarding the Humboldt Bay
Offshore Wind Heavy Lift Marine Terminal Project. Updates may include the status
of grants, budgets, schedules, technical studies, funding opportunities, tasks
completed, tasks underway, upcoming tasks, community engagement, and the latest 
overall project strategy. This report will provide an update for June 2025.

11. New Business

a) Consider Adopting Resolution No. 2025-02 A Resolution Establishing Findings
Relative to Permit 2025-01; a CEQA Exemption; and Conditional Approval of Permit
2025-01 for Sequoia Investments Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project

Recommendation: Adopt Harbor District Resolution No. 2025-02 which includes:
• Establishing Findings Relative to a CEQA Exemption and the Permit Application for

the Sequoia Investments Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project
• Approving Permit 2025-01 with Conditions for the Sequoia Investments Fairhaven

Terminal Dock Repair Project

Summary: Sequoia Investments X, LLC applied for a Harbor District permit to conduct 
a 5-year repair and maintenance plan for Fairhaven Terminal Dock (also referred to 
as “Fairhaven South Dock”).  The permit is intended to allow for the maintenance, 
repair, and/or replacement of up to 48 pilings associated with the Sequoia 
Investment’s Fairhaven Terminal dock located at 1900 Bendixon St. in Samoa, CA 
(APN 401-301-008). The dock is approximately 500 feet long by 70 feet wide, with a 
24-foot wide by 250-foot long approach trestle (Figure 1). All repair regions appear



Agenda for June 12, 2025 Regular Board Meeting 

4 

to be in open water and outside of mapped eelgrass habitat and would occur July 1 
to Oct. 15 over a 5-year period to allow scheduling flexibility. 

b) Consider Adopting Resolution 2025-03: Establishing Findings Relative to Humboldt
Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District Permit 2025-03, a CEQA
Exemption, and Approval of Harbor District Permit 2025-03 with Conditions for the
Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project

Recommendation: Adopt Harbor District Resolution No. 2025-03 which includes:
• Establishing Findings Relative to a CEQA Categorical Exemption and the Permit

Application for the Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project
• Approving Permit 2025-03 with Conditions for the Long Pond Tidal Wetland

Enhancement Project

Summary: The United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) submitted Permit 
Application 2025-03 to conduct the Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project 
(Project), a two-phase habitat restoration effort within the Salmon Creek Unit of 
Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge (see Figures 1 - 3). The project site lies at the 
mouth of Long Pond within APN 308-191-008, where it connects to Hookton Slough 
on the south end of Humboldt Bay (Figure 1). The project involves the replacement 
of a failing tide gate structure and related water control infrastructure (Phase 1), and 
wetland habitat restoration activities involving the creation of ponds and tidal 
channeling, hydrology reconnection, and placement of large woody debris in 
wetland habitat (Phase 2). 

c) Accept the Audit Report for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year

Recommendation: Accept the Audit Report for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year.

Summary: Harshwal & Company LLP prepared the independent auditors report for the
fiscal year ending June 30th, 2024. See page 23 of the Audit for detailed information on
restricted cash balances for the Dredge Surcharge and the Float Replacement
Surcharge.

d) Consideration of Initial Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Budget Preparation Step 3 -
Preliminary Goals for Port Operations, Conservation and Recreation Programs,
Administrative Services, General Operating and Staffing

Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Board direct staff to implement the
proposed 2025-2026 Fiscal Year Budget Preparation Schedule and receive a report
on the proposed capital expense projects for Port Operations, Conservation and
Recreation Programs, Administrative Services, General Operating and Staffing.

Summary: Beginning at the April 10th meeting, staff will present the Capital expense
projects under consideration for the 2025-2026 fiscal year and the projected costs of
each. These items do not include the recurring maintenance and operations costs,
which will be presented in the final draft budget brought to the commission for
approval in June.



Agenda for June 12, 2025 Regular Board Meeting 

5 

e) Preliminary Budget Adoption for Fiscal Year 2025-2026

Recommendation: Adopt the Preliminary Budget for FY 2025-2026.

Summary: The Budget is prepared annually under the direction of the Executive
Director. In accordance with CA Harbors and Navigation Code Section 6093, on or
before June 15, the District Board shall estimate and determine the amount of
money required by the Harbor District and shall adopt a preliminary budget. Per
Section 6093.3, the final budget shall be reported to the Board of Supervisors not
later than August 1st.

12. Adjournment



DRAFT MINUTES 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT 
May 8, 2025 

The Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District met in regular session on the above date, 
Regular Session met at 6:00 P.M. at the Woodley Island Marina meeting room, 601 Startare Drive, Eureka, 
CA  95501. 

REGULAR SESSION – 6:01 P.M. 

ROLL CALL 
PRESENT: BENSON 

KULLMANN 
NEWMAN 
NORTON 

ABSENT: DALE 
QUORUM: YES 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIENCE 

PUBLIC COMMENT: The following individuals addressed the Commission regarding subject matters 
not on the regular session meeting agenda: Sebastian Elrite. 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
a) Adopt Minutes for March 13, 2025 Regular Board Meeting
b) Adopt Minutes for April 10, 2025 Regular Board Meeting
c) Receive District Financial Reports for February 2025
d) Receive District Financial Reports for March 2025
e) Approve Salary Schedules for CalPERS Audit Compliance
f) Consider Accepting Application for Filing for Harbor District Permit 2025-03: Long Pond

Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project
COMMISSIONER NEWMAN MOVED ACCEPT CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS A-F. 
COMMISSIONER BENSON SECONDED. 
VOICE VOTE WAS CALLED, MOTION CARRIED WITHOUT DISSENT. 
Ayes: BENSON, KULLMANN, NEWMAN, NORTON 
Noes:  NONE 
Absent: DALE 
Abstain: NONE 

COMMUNICATIONS, REPORTS AND CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED 
a) Correspondence Received – None
b) Executive Director’s Report

I. Executive Director presented Executive Director’s report.

Agenda Item 8a.



Draft Minutes for May 8, 2025 Regular Board Meeting 

2 

c) Staff Reports
I. Staff presented reports.

d) District Counsel Report
I. No report.

e) District Treasurer Report
I. No report.

f) District Engineer Report.
I. No report.

g) District Planner Report
I. No report.

h) Commissioner and Committee Reports
I. Commissioners reported on recent activities and subcommittees.

Chair Kullmann moved Agenda Item 11a. to before Unfinished Business 

a) Special Guest Presentation from Ashley Vellis of Humboldt Dockside Market, Humboldt
County’s Open Air Fish Market
I. Commissioner Benson introduced Ashley Vellis and Megan Kenny, who presented the

item.
II. The Commission discussed the item.
III. Chair Kullmann opened the item to public comment. Sebastian Elrite commented.
IV. Chair Kullmann moved the discussion back to the Commission.
V. Discussion item only, no formal action was taken.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

a) Receive Status Update Regarding Humboldt Bay Offshore Wind Heavy Lift Marine
Terminal Project
I. District Planner presented the item with Aaron Porter of Moffat & Nichol, and Gwen

Lawrence of Moffat & Nichol.
II. The Commission discussed the item.
III. Chair Kullmann opened the item to public comment. Sebastian Elrite, Kevin McKernan

and Matt Simmons commented.
IV. Chair Kullmann moved the discussion back to the Commission.
V. Discussion item only, no formal action was taken.

NEW BUSINESS 

b) Consideration of Initial Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Budget Preparation Step 2 - Preliminary
Goals for Redwood Marine Terminal I, Redwood Marine Terminal II and Shelter Cove
I. Executive Director presented the item.
II. The Commission discussed the item.
III. Chair Kullmann opened the item to public comment. No one commented.
IV. Chair Kullmann moved the discussion back to the Commission.
V. Discussion item only, no formal action was taken.



Draft Minutes for May 8, 2025 Regular Board Meeting 

3 

ADJOURNMENT – 7:51 P.M. 

APPROVED BY:  RECORDED BY:  

________________________________ ________________________________ 

Aaron Newman  Mindy Hiley 
Secretary of the Board of Commissioners Director of Administrative Services 



4/30/25 3/31/25
Account Balances
Checking 39,804$       54,493$       
Savings 293,120 290,180
County Treasury 1,591,399 982,097
Cash on hand 1,520 1,195
    Total Cash 1,925,843   1,327,965   

Less: Estimated unexpended grant proceeds and Nordic 
deposits included in cash above (305,066) (372,813)
Cash Available (Deficit), excluding unexpended grant 
proceeds and deposits 1,620,777   955,152      

Change in Cash Balance
Balance, Beginning of Month 1,327,965$  1,378,614$  
Monthly Deposits 799,754       478,190       
Monthly Payments (201,877)     (528,839)     
Balance, End of Month 1,925,843$  1,327,965$  

Monthly Expenses Summary
Significant Individual Expenses:

    Redwood Community Action Agency 132,366$       
        Sub-total, Significance/Unusual Expenses - 132,366 
General operating expenses and other misc. expense 201,877       396,473       
        Total Cash Payments 201,877$     528,839$     

Monthly Deposits Summary
Significant Individual Revenues:
    CalTrans - Office of Clean CA 292,023$     
    OnTrac Logistics, Inc. 27,246$         
        Sub-total, Significant/Unusual Revenues 27,246        292,023       
General revenues 772,508       186,167       
        Total Cash Receipts 799,754$     478,190$     

Supplementary Information
    Unrestricted cash used for Marina surcharges 1,273,635$  1,295,992$  

HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION, AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT
Monthly Cash Flow Analysis

For The Months Ended April 30, 2025 and March 31, 2025

1,925,843 

$201,877 

$799,754 

1,327,965 

$528,839 

$478,190 

 ‐  500,000  1,000,000  1,500,000  2,000,000  2,500,000

TOTAL CASH

TOTAL CASH PAYMENTS

TOTAL CASH RECEIPTS

Summary of Cash Activity

Prior Month Current Month

Agenda Item 8b.



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Balance Sheet

As of April 30, 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:22 PM GMT-07:00   1/5

TOTAL

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank Accounts

10000 PETTY CASH ON HAND 150.00

10100 CHANGE FUND ON HAND 300.00

10111 COIN MACHINE FUND 730.00

10200 CASH IN BANK, CHECKING 12,755.94

10200.1 Cash in PNC, Checking 26,063.32

10400 CASH IN COUNTY - FUND 2720 1,552,938.26

10500 CASH IN COUNTY - FUND 3872 38,460.50

10600.1 Cash in bank, Tariff PNC 251,914.78

10700.1 Cash in bank, Water PNC 42,189.92

10901 UNEXPENDED MARINA SURCHARGES -1,273,635.21

10902 UNEXP SURCHARGES AVAIL CASH ADJ 0.00

10903 RESTRICTED CASH 1,273,635.21

Total Bank Accounts $1,925,502.72

Accounts Receivable

12000 ACCTS RECEIVABLE 1,855,592.36

Total Accounts Receivable $1,855,592.36

Other Current Assets

11200 US  TREASURY BONDS 0.00

12001 OTHER RECEIVABLES 0.00

12002 DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 0.00

12100 ALLOW FOR BAD DEBTS -34,817.32

12200 TAXES RECEIVBLE 0.00

12300 INTEREST RECEIVBLE 0.00

12600 Note Receivable - NMTC 0.00

12700 PREPAID EXPENSES 112,887.30

12750 Refunds Receivable 0.00

12800 LEASE RECEIVABLE 0.00

12900 Accounts Receivable FSM 0.00

1499 Undeposited Funds 340.00

Total Other Current Assets $78,409.98

Total Current Assets $3,859,505.06

Fixed Assets

14800 SHIPWRECK PROPERTY 50,088.05

14900 DOG RANCH PROPERTY 7,507.70

16999 Combined Expense Pending Transf 0.00

Agenda Item 8b.



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Balance Sheet

As of April 30, 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:22 PM GMT-07:00   2/5

TOTAL

CAPITAL ASSETS, NET

14910 SAMOA PROPERTY 208,149.00

14930 TOWN OF SAMOA PROPERTY 3,007,851.23

14940 BAY STREET PROPERTY 35,000.00

15000 AUTOMOTIVE EQUIPMENT 95,639.08

15100 OFFICE EQUIPMENT 193,303.88

15200 OPERATING EQUIPMENT 314,098.74

15400 1998 MARINA DREDGING PROJECT 0.00

15500 MARINA, RESTAURANT COMPLEX 0.00

15600 MARINA 10,529,004.29

15700 FL BOAT BLDG & REPAIR FACILITY 4,302,259.53

15800 SHELTER COVE 2,386,247.10

15900 DREDGING COSTS 215,226.78

16000 KING SALMON 15,143.99

16100 MARINA DREDGE,CONSTR IN PROGRES 3,040,831.23

16400 REDWOOD DOCK PROPERTY 3,010,194.30

16500 HOMELAND SECURITY EQUIPMENT 2,254,007.60

16600 TABLE BLUFF LIGHTHOUSE 361.44

16700 AQUAPONICS PILOT FACILITY 96,036.61

16800 REDWOOD TERMINAL 2 4,941,769.69

16900 Dredge 1,215,423.27

17000 ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION -19,379,922.17

Total CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 16,480,625.59

Total Fixed Assets $16,538,221.34

Other Assets

12400 BNY LOAN RECEIVBLE 0.00

15300 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 0.00

18000 DEPOSITS 0.00

18500 OTHER DEFERRED ASSETS 0.00

18700 Deferred Lease Asset 3,775,823.00

19000 Deferred Outflows of PERS 628,186.52

Total Other Assets $4,404,009.52

TOTAL ASSETS $24,801,735.92

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

20000 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2,155,508.15

Total Accounts Payable $2,155,508.15

Credit Cards

20112 US Bank Visa 601.42



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Balance Sheet

As of April 30, 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:22 PM GMT-07:00   3/5

TOTAL

Total Credit Cards $601.42

Other Current Liabilities

20000.1 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE YR END  ADJUST 0.00

20100 LEASE PAYABLE TO HBDA 0.00

20200 NOTES PAYABLE 605,723.00

20400 ACCRUED WAGES PAYABLE 33,573.50

20500 ACCRUED INTEREST 47,120.00

20600 ACCRUED VACATION PAYABLE 49,309.60

20700 ACCRUED SICK LEAVE PAYABLE 1,646.81

20800 DEPOSITS ON HAND 0.00

20801 KEY DEPOSITS ON HAND 19,160.00

20802 PLUG DEPOSITS ON HAND 1,330.00

20803 SLIP DEPOSITS ON HAND 56,424.97

20804 STORAGE DEPOSITS 4,409.15

20805 CONF. ROOM DEPOSITS 0.00

20806 LEASE SECURITY DEPOSIT 96,623.92

20807 STORAGE DEPOSIT - REDWOOD DOCK 2,943.31

20808 WAIT LIST DEPOSIT 5,800.00

20809 HAUL OUT DEPOSIT 0.00

Total 20800 DEPOSITS ON HAND 186,691.35

22000 DEFERRED LEASE INCOME 0.00

24000 Ground Lease Deferred Income 0.00

24002 Groundlease Current Def Income 0.00

27201 Deferred Inflows - OPEB 717.00

28000 DEFERRED INCOME 158,858.89

28400 DEFERREDINCOMECalTrans Spartina 731,004.67

28402 DEFERREDINCOME CalTrans Eelgrass 117,983.00

28500 OTHER DEFERRED CREDITS 0.00

Payroll tax & Withholding Liab

2100 PAYROLL LIABILITIES -2,108.93

21000 WAGE GARNISHES -665.00

2110 DIRECT DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 0.00

21100 FEDERAL WITHHOLDING TAX 1.38

2111 *DIRECT DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 0.01

21200 STATE WITHHOLDING TAX -0.03

21300 STATE UNEMPLOYMENT TAX 24.57

21400 SOCIAL SECURITY/MEDICARE TAX -0.03

21500 AFLAC 0.00

21600 PERS CARE/MEDICAL INSURANCE -3,006.16

21700 PERS RETIREMENT -0.94

21701 PERS DEFERRED COMPENSATION 0.00

21800 STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE 0.00

21900 UNION DUES DEDUCTIBLE 0.00



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Balance Sheet

As of April 30, 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:22 PM GMT-07:00   4/5

TOTAL

Total Payroll tax & Withholding Liab -5,755.13

Sales Tax Agency Payable 0.00

Total Other Current Liabilities $1,926,872.69

Total Current Liabilities $4,082,982.26

Long-Term Liabilities

24001 Gound Lease Amortization 0.00

24003 Groundlease Current Offset 0.00

25000 DUE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 0.00

25100 NOTES PAYABLE- CMIA 0.00

25200 ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION LIAB 0.00

25300 BOND PAYABLE - DEEP DREDGING 0.00

25400 Note Payable - No. Valley Bank 0.00

25500 OPEB Liability 139,510.00

25600 Note Payable-Coast Seafoods Co. 0.00

25700 BOND PAYABLE 2014 REFINANCING 1,197,489.40

25800 BBVA Loan Payable 798,438.03

25900 LESS CURRENT PORTION -605,723.00

26000 CAPITAL LEASE PAYABLE 0.00

26100 Rate Stabilization Fund 5,208,000.00

27000 Net Pension Liability 1,488,345.00

27200 Deferred Inflows of PERS 70,872.00

27202 Deferred Inflows - Leases 3,547,189.00

Total Long-Term Liabilities $11,844,120.43

Total Liabilities $15,927,102.69

Equity

3000 OPENING BALANCE EQUITY 0.00

30200 GOVT CONTRIBUTIONS MARINA 0.00

30201 ACCUM DEPR MARINA, EDA PORTION 0.00

30300 GOVT CNTRB/FL BOAT BLDG/RPR FAC 0.00

30301 ACCUM DEPR - FL BOAT BLDG & RPR 0.00

30400 GOVT CONTRIB - CA DEPT OF B&W 0.00

30401 ACCUM DEPR/SHELTER COVE B&W 0.00

30500 INVESTMENT IN FIXED ASSETS 11,208,910.72

30505 Change In Invest Fixed Assets 0.00

Total 30500 INVESTMENT IN FIXED ASSETS 11,208,910.72

30900 RESTRICTED FUND BALANCE 533,949.61

30901 Restricted Fd Bal-Curr Yr Chang 874,655.33

Total 30900 RESTRICTED FUND BALANCE 1,408,604.94



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Balance Sheet

As of April 30, 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:22 PM GMT-07:00   5/5

TOTAL

31200 GENERAL FUND BALANCE 627,754.95

31000 FUND BALANCE - TIDELANDS TRUST -813,768.21

31100 Designated for General Fd Reser 0.00

31108 Designated Bal-Curr Yr Change 0.00

Total 31100 Designated for General Fd Reser 0.00

31201 General Fund-Change is Restrict -903,949.01

31205 General Fund Invest Fixed Asset 0.00

31208 General Fund Change in Designat 0.00

Total 31200 GENERAL FUND BALANCE -1,089,962.27

3900 RETAINED EARNINGS 1,459.23

Net Income -2,654,379.39

Total Equity $8,874,633.23

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $24,801,735.92



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Profit and Loss

April 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:16 PM GMT-07:00   1/6

TOTAL

APR 2025 JUL 2024 - APR 2025 (YTD) % YTD

Income

47019 Returned Check Charges 35.00

52708.1 Discount 12.66 83.69 15.13 %

Donations

46519 Donations - Lighthouse 1.00 43.00 2.33 %

Total Donations 1.00 43.00 2.33 %

Dredging Revenue

41318 Dredging Surcharge - T 17,117.20 180,750.75 9.47 %

Total Dredging Revenue 17,117.20 180,750.75 9.47 %

Fees

40108 PERMITS-T 700.00 3,550.00 19.72 %

40808 Pilotage Services - T 1,171.58

41308.1 Poundage - T 1,844.38

41818 Late Charges/Interest - T 4,500.00 45,394.24 9.91 %

41819 Late Charges/Interest - NT 786.50 5,414.58 14.53 %

45608 Chevron - Ports O&M - T 24,262.50

Total Fees 5,986.50 81,637.28 7.33 %

Float Replacement Account

41418 Float Replacement 5,345.02 56,618.93 9.44 %

Total Float Replacement Account 5,345.02 56,618.93 9.44 %

Grant Revenue

Conservation Grants

45208.3 Conservation Grants, Gov't - T 484,652.57

Total Conservation Grants 484,652.57

Harbor Grants

45208.1 Harbor Grants, Gov't - T 239,958.35 652,062.22 36.80 %

Total Harbor Grants 239,958.35 652,062.22 36.80 %

Total Grant Revenue 239,958.35 1,136,714.79 21.11 %

Harbor Surcharge

40908 Harbor Improvement Surcharge-T 3,448.00 103,693.91 3.33 %

Total Harbor Surcharge 3,448.00 103,693.91 3.33 %

Interest Revenue

43108 Interest Income - T 1,083.00 24,957.61 4.34 %

43109 Interest Income - NT 8,594.12 10,314.18 83.32 %

Total Interest Revenue 9,677.12 35,271.79 27.44 %

Agenda Item 8b.



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Profit and Loss

April 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:16 PM GMT-07:00   2/6

TOTAL

APR 2025 JUL 2024 - APR 2025 (YTD) % YTD

Other Revenue

45908 Other Revenue - T -23.51 -0.31 7,583.87 %

45909 Other Revenue - NT 185,362.12 352,669.27 52.56 %

45911 Other Revenue - Spartina 399,121.04 901,602.36 44.27 %

Total Other Revenue 584,459.65 1,254,271.32 46.60 %

Rent Income

40218 Slip Rents - T 41,998.68 499,659.48 8.41 %

40318.1 Transient Rentals - T 2,652.45 17,028.51 15.58 %

40518 Equipment Rent - T 2,448.70

40519 Equipment Rent - NT 270.00 5,080.00 5.31 %

40709 FL BUILDING SPACE RENT G/NT 4,545.75 40,911.75 11.11 %

40809 Yard Rent - NT 2,690.58 26,449.16 10.17 %

41108 Rents, Tidelands Leases - T 30,142.23 343,924.64 8.76 %

41309 Storage - NT 2,936.10 39,920.94 7.35 %

41409 Upland Rent - NT 69,166.90 699,722.89 9.88 %

Total Rent Income 154,402.69 1,675,146.07 9.22 %

Sales

40119 Concession Sales - NT 488.48 6,313.98 7.74 %

Total Sales 488.48 6,313.98 7.74 %

Services 0.00 0.00

Tax Revenue

43509 Property Tax Revenues 407,589.80 1,367,507.35 29.81 %

45009 Other Federal Tax Revenue 14.19

Total Tax Revenue 407,589.80 1,367,521.54 29.81 %

Utility Surcharge

40409 Utility Surcharge - NT 6,910.29 96,844.66 7.14 %

40418 Utility Surcharge, Marina Dock 5,657.54 45,032.79 12.56 %

Total Utility Surcharge 12,567.83 141,877.45 8.86 %

Total Income $1,441,054.30 $6,039,979.50 23.86 %

GROSS PROFIT $1,441,054.30 $6,039,979.50 23.86 %

Expenses

57018 Bank Service Charges 463.37 4,232.67 10.95 %

Accounting/Auditing Services

52500 Accounting Fees - T 7,383.00 54,635.70 13.51 %

52508 Accounting Fees - NT 2,461.00 19,288.90 12.76 %

Total Accounting/Auditing Services 9,844.00 73,924.60 13.32 %



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Profit and Loss

April 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:16 PM GMT-07:00   3/6

TOTAL

APR 2025 JUL 2024 - APR 2025 (YTD) % YTD

Advertising & Promotion

51000 Advertising & Promotion - NT 1,482.06

51008 Advertising & Promotion - T 881.27

Total Advertising & Promotion 2,363.33

Bad Debts

51308 Bad Debts - T 29,650.00

Total Bad Debts 29,650.00

Communications

51400 Communications - NT 1,137.21 11,648.19 9.76 %

51408 Communications - T 172.44 1,724.57 10.00 %

Total Communications 1,309.65 13,372.76 9.79 %

Conference & Meetings

51500 Conferences & Meetings - NT 3,249.07 19,095.99 17.01 %

51508 Conferences & Meetings - T 467.59

Total Conference & Meetings 3,249.07 19,563.58 16.61 %

Dredging Expense

55608 Dredging Expense - T 0.00

56708 Dredging - GT 105.00 2,277.50 4.61 %

56718 Dredging - MT 2,013,383.75

Total Dredging Expense 105.00 2,015,661.25 0.01 %

Dues, Subscriptions & Licences

51600 Dues & Subscriptions - NT 9,314.61 25,630.52 36.34 %

51608 Dues & Subscriptions - T 5,540.00 7,746.64 71.51 %

Total Dues, Subscriptions & Licences 14,854.61 33,377.16 44.51 %

Elections & Government Fees 20,451.43 20,451.43 100.00 %

51700 Elections & Prop Tax Assess-NT 27,832.25

51708 Elections & Prop Tax Assess - T 1,829.47

Total Elections & Government Fees 20,451.43 50,113.15 40.81 %

Engineering Services

52400 Engineering Fees - NT 8,557.65 72,610.25 11.79 %

52408 Engineering Fees - T 97.50 70,857.90 0.14 %

Total Engineering Services 8,655.15 143,468.15 6.03 %

Fuel

51200 Automotive, Fuel- NT 754.03 8,191.74 9.20 %

51208 Vessel Fuel 483.20

51218 Automotive, Fuel - T 754.02 7,635.20 9.88 %

Total Fuel 1,508.05 16,310.14 9.25 %



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Profit and Loss

April 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:16 PM GMT-07:00   4/6

TOTAL

APR 2025 JUL 2024 - APR 2025 (YTD) % YTD

Grant Expenses

Conservation Grant Expenses

54408.3 Conservation Grant Exp 0.00

Total Conservation Grant Expenses 0.00

Harbor Grant Expenses

54408.1 Harbor Grant Exp 768,042.52 2,336,781.12 32.87 %

Total Harbor Grant Expenses 768,042.52 2,336,781.12 32.87 %

Recreation Grant Expenses

54408.2 Recreation Grant Exp 430,798.21

Total Recreation Grant Expenses 430,798.21

Total Grant Expenses 768,042.52 2,767,579.33 27.75 %

Insurance

51800 Insurance - NT 11,782.92 168,835.62 6.98 %

51808 Insurance - T 18,998.35

Total Insurance 11,782.92 187,833.97 6.27 %

Interest Expense

55108 Interest Expense - T 4,156.00 264,545.73 1.57 %

55109 Interest Expense - NT 7,624.00 117,287.76 6.50 %

Total Interest Expense 11,780.00 381,833.49 3.09 %

Legal Services

52300 Legal Fees - NT 7,959.25 81,732.44 9.74 %

52308 Legal Fees - T 753.75 8,957.50 8.41 %

Total Legal Services 8,713.00 90,689.94 9.61 %

Maintenance - Equipment

51209 Automotive, Repairs - NT 72.13 6,898.25 1.05 %

52710 Repairs & Maint, Equip - NT 563.63 2,316.23 24.33 %

52718 Repairs & Maint, Equip - T 4,507.38 17,183.69 26.23 %

Total Maintenance - Equipment 5,143.14 26,398.17 19.48 %

Maintenance - Facilities

52708 Repairs & Maint, Facilities - T 7,767.05 48,765.01 15.93 %

52719 Repairs & Maint, Facilities - N 4,465.82 46,846.09 9.53 %

54309 Redwood Terminal 2 Expenses -973.09 4,974.02 -19.56 %

Total Maintenance - Facilities 11,259.78 100,585.12 11.19 %

Maintenance - IT

57008 Maintenance, IT Equip - T 663.00 6,576.61 10.08 %

57009 Maintenance, IT Equip - NT 287.50 3,652.21 7.87 %

Total Maintenance - IT 950.50 10,228.82 9.29 %

Page 18 of 111



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Profit and Loss

April 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:16 PM GMT-07:00   5/6

TOTAL

APR 2025 JUL 2024 - APR 2025 (YTD) % YTD

Maintenance Supplies

52008 Maintenance Supplies - T 110.87

52010 Maintenance Supplies - NT 1,772.61 17,749.74 9.99 %

Total Maintenance Supplies 1,772.61 17,860.61 9.92 %

Office Supplies

51900 Office Supplies - NT 4,831.02 50,390.00 9.59 %

51908 Office Supplies - T 788.93 5,857.28 13.47 %

Total Office Supplies 5,619.95 56,247.28 9.99 %

Other Expenses

54405 Other Expenses - Spartina 399,121.04 901,602.36 44.27 %

55419 Other Expenses - NT 2,548.00

Total Other Expenses 399,121.04 904,150.36 44.14 %

Other Professional/Outside Serv

52109 Outside Services, Other - NT 6,693.36 16,275.99 41.12 %

Total Other Professional/Outside Serv 6,693.36 16,275.99 41.12 %

Permits

51610 Permits - NT 14,794.27

51618 Permits - T 3,056.00

Total Permits 17,850.27

Personnel Expenses

Contract Temporary Services

50318 Contract Temporary Services - T 24,509.81

Total Contract Temporary Services 24,509.81

Payroll Burden

50500 Payroll Benefits, Other - NT 30,345.35 301,909.87 10.05 %

50508 Payroll Benefits, Other - T 8,299.02 88,214.85 9.41 %

6560 Workers' Comp 3,893.09 38,411.99 10.14 %

Total Payroll Burden 42,537.46 428,536.71 9.93 %

Salaries/Wages

50100 Salaries & Wages - NT 79,708.55 839,232.92 9.50 %

Total Salaries/Wages 79,708.55 839,232.92 9.50 %

Total Personnel Expenses 122,246.01 1,292,279.44 9.46 %

Planning Services

52200 Planning Fees - NT 35,064.91

52208 Planning Fees - T 6,561.91

Total Planning Services 41,626.82



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Profit and Loss

April 2025

Accrual Basis  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:16 PM GMT-07:00   6/6

TOTAL

APR 2025 JUL 2024 - APR 2025 (YTD) % YTD

Rent Expense

52600 Rent Expense - NT 756.00

54308 Redwood Terminal 2 Lease Expens 1,623.24

Total Rent Expense 2,379.24

Small Tools

52800 Small Tools - NT 129.99 2,306.03 5.64 %

52808 Small Tools - T 348.06

Total Small Tools 129.99 2,654.09 4.90 %

Utilities

52909 Utilities - NT 16,908.41 167,181.63 10.11 %

52918 Utilities - T 3,033.98 44,957.74 6.75 %

53000 Water, Sewer, & Refuse - NT 11,115.95 105,666.73 10.52 %

53008 Water, Sewer, & Refuse - T 5,578.14 58,043.06 9.61 %

Total Utilities 36,636.48 375,849.16 9.75 %

Total Expenses $1,450,331.63 $8,694,358.89 16.68 %

NET OPERATING INCOME $ -9,277.33 $ -2,654,379.39 0.35 %

NET INCOME $ -9,277.33 $ -2,654,379.39 0.35 %



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Bill Payment List

April 2025

  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:19 PM GMT-07:00   1/2

DATE NUM VENDOR AMOUNT

10200.1 Cash in PNC, Checking

04/02/2025 DD Provolt, Robert -1,013.70

04/11/2025 ACH04112025-03 CalPERS 457 Program -325.00

04/11/2025 3938 314intermedia -60.00

04/11/2025 3939 Alliant Insurance Services, Inc. -500.00

04/11/2025 3940 Amazon Business (Invoices) -33.55

04/11/2025 3941 An Electrician Inc -1,500.20

04/11/2025 3942 B & B Portable Toilets -433.68

04/11/2025 3943 CA Harbor Masters & Port Captains -450.00

04/11/2025 3944 California Redwood Co. -1,077.16

04/11/2025 3945 Crystal Springs Bottled Water -40.00

04/11/2025 3946 Englund Marine Supply -24.54

04/11/2025 3947 Eureka Oxygen Company -107.75

04/11/2025 3948 Gelinas James, Inc. -625.00

04/11/2025 3949 Grossman Hague -5,242.00

04/11/2025 3950 Humboldt Bay Municipal Water Dist. -1,322.75

04/11/2025 3951 Microbac Laboratories, Inc -788.00

04/11/2025 3952 Miller Farms Nursery -38.70

04/11/2025 3953 Mission Uniform & Linen -97.33

04/11/2025 3954 Nilsen Company -10.91

04/11/2025 3955 Northern California Safety Consortium -1,635.00

04/11/2025 3956 Recology Eel River -537.37

04/11/2025 3957 Recology Eel River Fortuna -49.00

04/11/2025 3958 Recology Humboldt County (061218064) -379.34

04/11/2025 3959 Recology Humboldt County (A0060000265) -2,015.63

04/11/2025 3960 RMI Outdoors -295.42

04/11/2025 3961 Schmidbauer Building Supply -93.26

04/11/2025 3962 Shafer's Ace Hardware (Harris) -68.81

04/11/2025 3963 SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologists -7,230.20

04/11/2025 3964 Solink Corporation -155.00

04/11/2025 3965 Standard Insurance Company -303.40

04/11/2025 3966 The Mill Yard -383.68

04/11/2025 3967 Western Chainsaw -52.92

04/11/2025 3968 William Burk Enterprises -230.00

04/11/2025 3969 Yurok Tribal Foundation -1,000.00

04/11/2025 3970 Pierson Building Center -776.79

04/25/2025 ACH04252025-02 PERS Unfunded Accrued Liab -9,510.58

04/25/2025 ACH04252025-01 CalPERS 457 Program -325.00

04/25/2025 3979 Coastal Business Systems, Inc. -557.61

04/25/2025 3988 Pitcher's Pro Repair -3,644.00

04/25/2025 3983 Humboldt Waste Management Authority -133.96

04/25/2025 3987 Network Help To Go -575.00

04/25/2025 3980 Don's Rent-All -1,493.06

04/25/2025 3989 PPG Architectural Finishes -216.63

04/25/2025 3991 StewTel, Inc. -344.88

Agenda Item 8b.



Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation & Conservation Dis
Bill Payment List

April 2025

  Friday, June 6, 2025 02:19 PM GMT-07:00   2/2

DATE NUM VENDOR AMOUNT

04/25/2025 3974 101Netlink -370.00

04/25/2025 3981 Humboldt Bay Solar Fund LLC -10,533.72

04/25/2025 3985 Mission Uniform & Linen -445.09

04/25/2025 3990 Shelter Cove Resort Improvement District -123.51

04/25/2025 3986 Mitchell Law Firm, LLP -2,947.50

04/25/2025 3976 CAPA -2,456.61

04/25/2025 3982 Humboldt Community Services District -18.00

04/25/2025 3992 Valley Pacific Petroleum Services, Inc -1,248.42

04/25/2025 3994 Wiyot Tribe -4,047.10

04/25/2025 3993 Verizon Wireless -373.99

04/25/2025 3984 K&L Gates LLP -5,698.00

04/25/2025 3977 City of Eureka (Sewer) -3,910.61

04/25/2025 3978 City of Eureka (Water) -6,971.69

04/25/2025 3995 Humboldt County Health & Human Services -1,495.36

04/25/2025 3996 Verizon Wireless -220.78

04/25/2025 3997 Amazon Business (Invoices) -538.70

04/30/2025 DD Howser, Suzie -856.70

04/30/2025 ACH04302025-01 CalPERS Health -2,032.27

04/30/2025 ACH04302025-02 CalPERS Health -18,157.30

Total for 10200.1 Cash in PNC, Checking $ -108,142.16



COMMISSIONERS 
1st Division 
  Aaron Newman 
2nd Division 
  Greg Dale 
3rd Division 
  Stephen Kullmann 
4th Division 
  Craig Benson 
5th Division 
  Jack Norton 

 
Humboldt Bay  

Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 
(707) 443-0801
P.O. Box 1030

Eureka, California 95502-1030 
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
HARBOR DISTRICT MEETING 

June 12, 2025 

TO: Honorable Board President and Harbor District Board Members  

FROM: Rob Holmlund, Development Director; Vanessa Blodget, District Planner 

DATE: June 3, 2025 

TITLE:  Receive Status Update Regarding Humboldt Bay Offshore Wind Heavy Lift Marine Terminal 
Project 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Receive report and provide direction. 

SUMMARY: The Board has requested a monthly update regarding the Humboldt Bay Offshore 
Wind Heavy Lift Marine Terminal Project. Updates may include the status of grants, budgets, 
schedules, technical studies, funding opportunities, tasks completed, tasks underway, upcoming 
tasks, community engagement, and the latest overall project strategy. This report will provide an 
update for June 2025. 

DISCUSSION: As outlined in the last several Board meetings (and accompanying staff reports), each 
monthly update will now include technical speakers from the project team, with a specific 
theme for each month.  The theme for this meeting (June 2025) is “Upland” components of the 
project, with the following speakers: 

• Josh Singer (Moffatt & Nichol) - Terminal operations Part 1 - 5 minutes
• Jeremy Patapoff (Moffatt & Nichol) - Stormwater and grading - 5 minutes
• TBD (EMI) - Ground improvements and seismic - 5 minutes
• Aaron Porter (Moffatt & Nichol) - Shoreline - 5 minutes

Next two month’s theme will be “Upland” components of the project.  There have been a few 
slight changes to the overall schedule of speakers/themes.  See this list for the revised version: 

• July (Upland Theme part 2)
o Chris Mikkelsen (Harbor District) - Phase 1, site contamination, cleanup, and

related - 5 minutes
o Brett Vivyan (GHD) - Roadway access - 5 minutes
o TBD (Moffatt & Nichol) - Anticipated traffic volumes/types

• August (Financing and Operations Theme)

Agenda Item 10a.



o Josh Singer (Moffatt & Nichol) - Terminal operations Part 2 - 5 minutes
o Michael Jokerst (Moffatt & Nichol) - Updated project cost estimate and schedule

- 5 minutes
o Sean Boyd (EY) - Financial plan - 5 minutes

• September (Energy, Utilities, and Sustainability Theme)
o Scott Lagueux (Moffatt & Nichol) - Green Terminal analyses - 5 minutes
o Pablo Faria (Moffatt & Nichol) - Electrical load - 5 minutes
o Jordan King (GHD) - Solar - 5 minutes
o Luke Holgen (GHD) - Utilities - 5 minutes

• October (CEQA, NEPA, and Permits Update)
o Kristen Orth-Gordinier and Rob Holmlund - Community/Tribal Engagement

Update and related WFIP grant activities - 5 minutes
o Adam Wagschal (Moffatt & Nichol) - Overview - 5 minutes
o Sally Zeff (ICF) - CEQA and NEPA - 5 minutes
o John Markham (ICF) - Permits - 5 minutes

• November (Baywide Master Plan Theme)
o Rob Holmlund – PIDP Public Engagement Plan - 5 minutes
o TBD - West Coast OSW Port Development Needs/Demand Analysis - 5 minutes
o TBD - Stakeholder Input - 5 minutes
o TBD - Development Scenarios and Opportunity/Options Analysis - 5 minutes
o TBD - Strategic Planning for Supply Chain and Workforce Capacity - 5 minutes

• December (Impacts and Mitigation Theme)
o Adam Wagschal (Moffatt & Nichol) - Comprehensive impacts summary - 5

minutes
o Sharon Kramer (HT Harvey Associates) - Bio mitigation - 5 minutes
o TBD (ICF or HMMH) - Sound/noise impact modeling - 5 minutes
o Jennifer Stock and Aaron Savage (Moffatt & Nichol) - Visual Sims - 5 minutes
o Kim Thompson (Moffatt & Nichol) and Adam Wagschal (Moffatt & Nichol) -

Aquaculture White Papers - 5 minutes
o Jamie Roscoe (Roscoe Associates) - Cultural Resources - 5 minutes
o Joseph Saler (SHN) - Onsite mitigation - 5 minutes
o Jeremy Svehla (GHD) - Offsite mitigation - 5 minutes

• January 2026 (Progress Update on Past Themes)
o Adam Wagschal (Moffatt & Nichol) - Impact Analyses and Permitting update - 5

minutes
o TBD - Amenities update - 5 minutes
o TBD - Marine update - 10 minutes
o TBD - Upland update - 10 minutes
o TBD - Energy, Utilities, and Sustainability update - 10 minutes
o February 2026 (TBD Theme)

• March 2026 - First hearing of CEQA DEIR?



COMMISSIONERS 
1st Division: Aaron Newman 
2nd Division: Greg Dale 
3rd Division: Stephen Kullmann 
4th Division: Craig Benson 
5th Division: Jack Norton 

Humboldt Bay Harbor,  
Recreation and Conservation 

District 
(707) 443-0801
P.O. Box 1030

Eureka, California 95502-1030 

Page 1 of 4 

STAFF REPORT 
HARBOR DISTRICT MEETING 

June 12, 2025 

TO:  Honorable Board President and Harbor District Board Members 

FROM:  Vanessa Blodgett, District Planner  

DATE: June 2, 2025 

TITLE:  Consider Adopting Resolution No. 2025-02 A Resolution Establishing Findings Relative to 
Permit 2025-01; a CEQA Exemption; and Conditional Approval of Permit 2025-01 for Sequoia 
Investments Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board: Adopt Harbor District Resolution No. 
2025-02 which includes: 

• Establishing Findings Relative to a CEQA Exemption and the Permit Application for the Sequoia
Investments Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project

• Approving Permit 2025-01 with Conditions for the Sequoia Investments Fairhaven Terminal
Dock Repair Project

SUMMARY: Sequoia Investments X, LLC applied for a Harbor District permit to conduct a 5-year 
repair and maintenance plan for Fairhaven Terminal Dock (also referred to as “Fairhaven South 
Dock”).  The permit is intended to allow for the maintenance, repair, and/or replacement of up to 48 
pilings associated with the Sequoia Investment’s Fairhaven Terminal dock located at 1900 Bendixon 
St. in Samoa, CA (APN 401-301-008). The dock is approximately 500 feet long by 70 feet wide, with a 
24-foot wide by 250-foot long approach trestle (Figure 1). All repair regions appear to be in open 
water and outside of mapped eelgrass habitat and would occur July 1 to Oct. 15 over a 5-year period 
to allow scheduling flexibility. 

DISCUSSION: The proposed project will replace 25 piles on the deck, 18 fender piles on the east side, 
2 approach trestle piles, 2 piles on North Dolphin C, and 1 pile on the 21-pile South Dolphin B; with a 
total of 48 existing piles to be replaced with steel piles of the same diameter. All existing piles are 
treated timber, except for the 2 piles on North Dolphin C, which are steel. The total percentage of 
deck piling repair is estimated to be approx. 6 percent given the 25 defected deck piles out of 408 
existing. The total percentage of approach trestle piling repair is approx. 3 percent given the 2 
defected trestle piles out of the 78 total existing. The initial focus of the repair plan will be on the 
piles that were identified with major or severe defects (Figure 2). The replacement of defective piles 

Agenda Item 11a.



Page 2 of 4 

and any other defect would be determined annually by a licensed contractor. All repair and/or 
replacement will follow regulation guidelines, procedures, and the Best Management Practices 
(BMP) noted in the application. The proposed work is temporary in nature, occurring in a few days to 
a few weeks at a time. 

All work would be staged and conducted from a barge. The Contractor’s materials staging area is in 
Fields Landing. The Contractor will load materials onto the barge as needed and float the barge to 
the Fairhaven Terminal dock. The Contractor will use vibratory pile driving to install new piles and 
vibratory pile extraction to remove damaged piles. The Contractor will set up and drive the steel 
foundation pilings with an APE vibratory hammer and install, by welding or bolting, the new steel I-
beams pile caps on the new pilings. Once the new pilings and pile caps are in place, the identified, 
old defective pilings will be removed with the vibratory hammer. Complete extraction of pilings 
identified by the Contractor is proposed. The Contractor will haul the removed pilings by barge to 
the Fields Landing staging area and then trucked to the nearest licensed waste facility to be disposed 
of or recycled per State of California recycling standards. 

All repair regions appear to be in open water and outside of mapped eelgrass habitat according 
to a 2024 baseline eelgrass survey by Merkel & Associates Inc (Figure 3). Maintenance activities 
would be limited to July 1 to October 15 to avoid impacts to Southern DPS green sturgeon, 
SONCC coho salmon, CC Chinook salmon, NC steelhead and their designated critical habitat. 
The project is conditioned upon the applicant complying with the District’s piling installation 
and removal best management practices (BMPs).  These BMP’s shall be implemented to ensure 
any potential impacts are minimized. Temporary impacts related to sediment disturbance 
during piling removal/replacement will be minimized by project timing and use of vibratory 
extraction and installation methods. In addition to pursuing a District permit, Sequoia 
Investment is also currently in the process of applying for other regulatory approvals, including 
from the California Coastal Commission, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and North Coast 
Regional Water Quality Control Board. 

Figure 1: Project Location Map of the Fairhaven Terminal Dock 



Page 3 of 4 

Figure 2: Fairhaven Terminal Dock blueprint showing pile condition notations from the Notthoff Underwater Service Dive Report 
(May 2024). 

Humboldt Bay Management Plan  
The project is consistent with the Humboldt Bay 
Management Plan (HBMP) including the 
harbor-related land use and development goal 
to assure the development and long-term 
maintenance of harbor-related infrastructure in 
Humboldt Bay, and associated Policy HLU-1. 

California Environmental Quality Act 
The Harbor District as lead agency has 
determined that the project qualifies for a 
CEQA Notice of Exemption (NOE) under Class 1, 
§15301 (Existing Facilities) and Class 2, § 15302
(Replacement or Reconstruction). The project
will replace severely damaged dock piles with
piles of the same diameter and would not result
in expansion of capacity or use; there is no
substantial evidence the project will have a
significant effect on the environment. Best
management practices would be implemented
to ensure any potential impacts are minimized
and no waste associated with the dock repair
would be allowed to enter Humboldt Bay.

Figure 3: Baseline eelgrass survey (Merkel & Associates, 2024) 



Page 4 of 4 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Resolution No. 2025-02 A Resolution Establishing Findings Relative to Permit 2025-01; A

CEQA Exemption; and Conditional Approval of Permit 2025-01 for the Fairhaven
Terminal Dock Repair Project

Attachment A-1. Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District Permit
2025-01 for the Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project

B. California Environmental Quality Act – Notice of Exemption

Documents incorporated here by reference are on file with the Harbor district and available online 
and/or by request (https://humboldtbay.org/public-notices-announcements-information): 

• Application – Sequoia Investments X, LLC’s Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project
(including Work Plan, Figures, Dive Inspection Report, and Biological Report)

https://humboldtbay.org/public-notices-announcements-information


Page 1 of 3 

HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION, 
AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

__________________________________________________________________ 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-02 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING FINDINGS RELATIVE TO A CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL 
QUALITY ACT EXEMPTION AND APPROVING HARBOR DISTRICT PERMIT 2025-01 WITH 

CONDITIONS FOR FAIRHAVEN TERMINAL DOCK REPAIR 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, and 
Conservation District is empowered by Appendix II of the Harbors and Navigation Code, and its 
own ordinances and resolutions, to grant permits, leases, rights, and privileges; and,  

WHEREAS, no permits, rights, leases, and privileges may be granted without first having 
considered certain potential impacts and without first having made findings relative to said 
impacts; and,  

WHEREAS, Sequoia Investment X, LLC applied to the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, 
and Conservation District for Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair “Project”; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, and 
Conservation District has been presented with certain evidence relating to the impact of the 
Project upon the air, land, environment, and ecology of the Bay under the jurisdiction of the 
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, and Conservation District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE HUMBOLDT BAY 
HARBOR, RECREATION, AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. That the above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by this 
reference. The Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District has determined the 
project qualifies for a CEQA Notice of Exemption (NOE) under Class 1, §15301 (Existing 
Facilities) and Class 2 (§ 15302 Replacement or Reconstruction), and there is no substantial 
evidence the project will have a significant effect on the environment. 

SECTION 2. That the Board of Commissioners of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and 
Conservation District has found, after considering the impact of the proposed use upon the air, 
water, land, environment, and ecology of the lands under the jurisdiction of the Humboldt Bay 
Harbor, Recreation, and Conservation District, that: 

a) The proposed uses are necessary to promote public safety, health, comfort, and
convenience of the public;

b) The proposed uses are required by the public convenience and necessity;
c) The proposed uses will not have any substantial adverse environmental or ecological

effect;

Agenda Item 11a. 
Attachment A



Page 2 of 3 

d) The proposed use is consistent with the Humboldt Bay Management Plan;
e) The permit, right, or privilege is reasonably required by public convenience to promote

growth, and to meet area demands, and does not adversely affect the environment or
ecology of the area to any substantial degree; and

f) The proposed use will not produce an unreasonable burden on the natural resources
and aesthetics of the area, on the public health and safety, and air and water quality in
the vicinity of Humboldt Bay, or on the parks, recreation and scenic area, historic sites
and buildings, or archeological sites in the area.

SECTION 3. That the Board of Commissioners does hereby issue Permit 2025-01 conditionally 
approving the Fairhaven Dock Repair Project (Attachment A-1). 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation 
District Board of Commissioners at a duly called meeting held on the 12th day of June 2025 by 
the following polled vote: 

AYES:  

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________ 
Stephen Kullmann, President 
Board of Commissioners 

__________________________________ 
Aaron Newman, Secretary 
Board of Commissioners   



Page 3 of 3 

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

The undersigned, duly qualified and acting Secretary of the HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT, does hereby certify that the attached Resolution is a true and correct copy 
of RESOLUTION NO. 2025-02 entitled, 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING FINDINGS RELATIVE TO A CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL 
QUALITY ACT EXEMPTION AND APPROVING HARBOR DISTRICT PERMIT 2025-01 WITH 

CONDITIONS FOR FAIRHAVEN DOCK REPAIR  

as regularly adopted at a legally convened meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the HUMBOLDT 
BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT, duly held on the 12th day of June 2025; and 
further, that such Resolution has been fully recorded in the Journal of Proceedings in my office, and is 
in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 12th day of June 2025. 

__________________________________ 
Aaron Newman, Secretary 
Board of Commissioners   



COMMISSIONERS 
1st Division: Aaron Newman 
2nd Division: Greg Dale 
3rd Division: Stephen Kullmann 
4th Division: Craig Benson 
5th Division: Jack Norton 

Humboldt Bay Harbor,  
Recreation and Conservation District 

(707) 443-0801 
P.O. Box 1030 

Eureka, California 95502-1030 

Page 1 of 4 Permit 2025-01 Sequoia Investments Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project 

HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION 
AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

PERMIT 

Permit No. 2025-01  601 Startare Drive 
Woodley Island Marina 
P.O. Box 1030 
Eureka, CA  95502-1030 

Permittee:  
Sequoia Investments X, LLC 
Kenneth Carswell 
323 5th Street 
Eureka, CA 95501  
kcarswell@snsc.com 
(707) 476-2706

Contact/Agent:  
Annje Dodd, PhD, PE 
Northpoint Consulting Group 
Annje@northpointeureka.com 
(707) 798-6438

The Board of Commissioners of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation 
District hereinafter referred to as “District”, having considered the Application herein, number 
2022-01, filed by Sequoia Investments X, LLC, hereinafter referred to as “Permittee”, and the 
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District (HBHRCD) as responsible 
agency, pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act of 1970, as amended, having made a 
determination adopting the Notice of Exemption (NOE) and the Board of Commissioners of the 
District having on June 12, 2025, passed Resolution No. 2025-02 establishing findings relative to 
the Application by Permittee for the Sequoia Investments Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project 
as provided for in this Permit, the Permittee is hereby authorized to perform the work as more 
particularly described in the Application filed with the District. 

You are hereby authorized to conduct that activity described in the Permit Application of 
Permittee consisting of: 

The Project will repair the Fairhaven Terminal Dock, located at 1900 Bendixon St, Samoa, CA 
(APN 401-301-008). The purpose of the Project is to repair and/or replace defected piles and dock 
support structures including replacement of up to 48 piles using vibratory pile driving.  

SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 

1. If the Permittee materially changes the activity plan and scope, it will be
necessary to request a permit revision.

Agenda Item 11a.
Attachment A-1



Page 2 of 4 Permit 2025-01 Sequoia Investments Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project 

2. That all work authorized by this Permit shall further be subject to the approval
of the following public agencies as applicable:

A. United States Army Corps of Engineers
B. North Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board
C. California Coastal Commission
D. California Department of Fish and Wildlife

and Permittee shall fully comply with all regulations and conditions affecting 
such work as imposed by the above agencies. 

3. That this Permit, if not previously revoked or specifically extended, shall
cease and be null and void and terminate on June 12, 2026. Permittee must
file an application for extension prior to the Permit termination date. The
Executive Director may administratively grant up to four (4) one year
extensions may be granted, for a total permit term of up to five years.

4. Any in-water work requires a Spill Prevention, Control and Countermeasure
(SPCC) plan. Spill kits with appropriate contents will be maintained at the
project site. Kits shall be equipped with enough material to provide
preliminary containment for a volume of material that can reasonably be
expected to spill. Booms will be available to contain spilled materials.

5. All construction debris shall be removed from the site and disposed of only at
an authorized disposal site. Sidecasting of such material or placement of any
such material within Humboldt Bay or any wetland area is prohibited.

6. The permittee and any and all contractors completing work for the project
must follow the District’s Piling Removal and Installation Best Management
Practices.

7. If archeological or cultural features or materials are unearthed during any
phase of project activity, all work in the immediate vicinity of the find shall halt
until the Permittee has contacted the Wiyot Tribe’s Cultural Department, and
the significance of the resource has been evaluated, to the satisfaction of the
Wiyot Tribe.  Any mitigation measures that may be deemed necessary will be
provided to the Wiyot Cultural Director for review and input to ensure they are
consistent with the standards for cultural resource mitigation particularly in
cooperation with Native American tribal representatives and the California
State Native American Heritage Commission. Mitigation measures shall be
implemented by a qualified archeologist representing the Permittee prior to
resumption of construction activities. If human remains are exposed by
project related activity, the Permittee shall comply with California State
Health and Safety Code, §7050.5, which states that no further disturbance
shall occur until the County Coroner has made the necessary findings as to



Page 3 of 4 Permit 2025-01 Sequoia Investments Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project 

the origin and disposition pursuant to California Public Resources Code, 
§5097.98.

8. That there shall be no unreasonable interference with navigation by the work
herein authorized.

9. That no attempt shall be made by the Permittee to interfere or forbid the full
and free use by the public of all navigable waters at or adjacent to the work.

10. That the District, its Commissioners, or any officer or employee of the
District shall in no case be liable for any damages or injury of the work herein
authorized which may be caused by or result from future operations
undertaken by the District for the conservation or improvement of navigation,
or for other purposes, and no claim or right to compensation shall accrue from
any such damage.

11. That neither the District, nor its Board of Commissioners, nor any officer of
the District shall be liable to any extent for any such injury or damage to any
person or property or for the death of any person arising out of or connected
with the work authorized by this Permit.

12. That the Board of Commissioners of the District may revoke this Permit at
any time upon a finding by the District of a violation by the Permittee of any
condition of this Permit.

13. That the Permittee shall comply with any regulations, condition, or
instructions affecting the work hereby authorized if and when issued by the
Federal Water Pollution Control Administration and/or the State of California
Water Resources Control Agency having jurisdiction to abate or prevent water
pollution. Such regulations, conditions, or instruction in effect or prescribed by
Federal or State Agencies are hereby made a condition of this Permit.

14. That as a condition to the issuance of this Permit, Permittee agrees to
indemnify and hold harmless District from and against any and all liability,
loss, or damage District may suffer from claims and demands for attorneys’
fees, costs of suit, and costs of administrative records made against District
by any and all third parties as a result of third party environmental actions
against District arising out of the subject matter of this Permit, including, but
not limited to attorneys’ fees, costs of suit, and costs of administrative records
pursuant to the California Code of Civil Procedure §1021.5 or any other
applicable local, state or federal laws, whether such attorneys’ fees, costs of
suit, and costs of administrative records are direct or indirect, or incurred in
the compromise, attempted compromise, trial appeal or arbitration of claims
for attorneys’ fees, costs of suit, and costs of administrative records in
connection with the subject matter of this Permit.



Page 4 of 4 Permit 2025-01 Sequoia Investments Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project 

15. That this Permit is valid as of June 12, 2025 and is made subject to the
Permittee approving and agreeing to the conditions above set forth herein
and executing said approval as hereinafter provided.

EXECUTED on this 12th day of June 2025, by authority of the Board of 
Commissioners of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation 
District. 

_____________________________ 
STEPHEN KULLMANN, Chair 
Board of Commissioners 
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and 
Conservation District 

 Sequoia Investments X, LLC, Permittee, in the above Permit, hereby accepts 
and agrees to all of the conditions hereinabove set forth. Permittee shall indemnify and 
hold harmless the District, its Board of Commissioners, officers and employees from 
any and all claims of any nature arising from the performance of and work of 
improvement contained in the Application for injury, death or damage to any person or 
property. 

 Sequoia Investments X, LLC, Permittee, in the above Permit, agrees to indemnify 
and hold harmless District, its Board of Commissioners, officers and employees from and 
against any and all liability, loss or damage District may suffer from claims and demands 
from attorneys’ fees; costs of suit and costs of administrative records made against District 
by any and all third parties as a result of third party environmental actions against District 
arising out of the subject matter of this Permit including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees, 
costs of suit and costs of administrative records pursuant to the California Code of Civil 
Procedure §1021.5 or any other applicable local, state or federal laws, whether such 
attorney’s fees, costs of suit and costs of administrative records are direct or indirect, or 
incurred in the compromise, attempted compromise, trial, appeal or arbitration of claims for 
attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and costs of administrative records in connection with the 
subject matter of this Permit. 

Dated:  ____________________ 

_________________________________ 
Sequoia Investments X, LLC Representative 



1 

COMMISSIONERS 
1st Division: Aaron Newman 
2nd Division: Greg Dale 
3rd Division: Stephen Kullmann 
4th Division: Craig Benson 
5th Division: Jack Norton 

 
 
 
 
 

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT - NOTICE OF EXEMPTION 

To: County of Humboldt From:  Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, 
County Clerk   and Conservation District 
825 5th Street  601 Startare Drive 
Eureka, CA 95501 Eureka, CA 95501 

districtplanner@humboldtbay.org 

Project Title: Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair Project 

Project Applicant: Sequoia Investments X, LLC, 323 5th Street, Eureka, CA 95501. 

Project Location: Fairhaven Terminal Dock, located at 1900 Bendixon St, Samoa, CA (APN 
401-301-008). 

Project Summary: The purpose of the Project is to repair and/or replace defected piles and 
dock support structures including replacement of up to 48 piles using vibratory pile driving. 
The proposed project will replace 25 piles on the deck, 18 fender piles on the east side, 2 
approach trestle piles, 2 piles on North Dolphin C, and 1 pile on the 21-pile South Dolphin 
B; with a total of 48 existing piles to be replaced with steel piles of the same diameter. All 
existing piles are treated timber, except for the 2 piles on North Dolphin C, which are steel. 
All repair regions appear to be in open water and outside of mapped eelgrass habitat 
according to a 2024 baseline eelgrass survey. Maintenance activities would be limited to 
July 1 to October 15 to avoid impacts to protected fish species.  

Pertinent California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Exemption: The District has 
determined that the project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to Class 1, §15301 (Existing 
Facilities) and Class 2, § 15302 (Replacement or Reconstruction). The project will replace 
severely damaged dock piles with piles of the same diameter and would not result in 
expansion of capacity or use; there is no substantial evidence the project will have a 
significant effect on the environment. Best management practices would be implemented 
to ensure any potential impacts are minimized and no waste associated with the dock 
repair would be allowed to enter Humboldt Bay. 

Rationale for Exemption: The project involves the replacement of existing pilings and 
associated structures to maintain safety and functionality. The project will not result in 
enlargement or expansion of existing use. The District has further determined that the use 
of the categorical exemption is not barred by any of the exceptions set forth in CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15300.2. The material supporting these findings is on file with the 
District and available for review upon request at the address listed below. Specifically: 

Humboldt Bay  
Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

(707) 443-0801
P.O. Box 1030

Eureka, California 95502-1030 

Agenda Item 11a.
Attachment B



2 

1. The cumulative impact of successive projects would not result in a significant impact. 
2. There are not unusual circumstances that create a reasonable possibility that the 

project will have a significant effect on the environment. 
3. The project would not impact scenic resources. 
4. The project is not located on a site which is included on any list compiled pursuant to 

Section 65962.5 of the Government Code. 
5. The project would not cause a substantial adverse change to the significance of a 

historic structure. 
6. The project is conditioned on complying with Piling Removal and Installation Best 

Management Practices. 
 

Lead Agency Contact: Rob Holmlund, Development Director  
    Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

601 Startare Drive, Eureka, CA 95501  
 
 

Signature: ________________________   Date:_______________,20____ 
     



COMMISSIONERS 
1st Division: Aaron Newman 
2nd Division: Greg Dale 
3rd Division: Stephen Kullmann 
4th Division: Craig Benson 
5th Division: Jack Norton 

Humboldt Bay Harbor,  
Recreation and Conservation 

District 
(707) 443-0801
P.O. Box 1030

Eureka, California 95502-1030 

Page 1 of 5 

STAFF REPORT 
HARBOR DISTRICT MEETING 

June 12, 2025 

TO:   Honorable Board President and Harbor District Board Members 

FROM:  Vanessa Blodgett, District Planner  

DATE: June 4, 2025 

TITLE:  Consider Adopting Resolution 2025-03: Establishing Findings Relative to Humboldt Bay 
Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District Permit 2025-03, a CEQA Exemption, and Approval of 
Harbor District Permit 2025-03 with Conditions for the Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement 
Project 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board: Adopt Harbor District Resolution No. 
2025-03 which includes: 

• Establishing Findings Relative to a CEQA Categorical Exemption and the Permit
Application for the Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project

• Approving Permit 2025-03 with Conditions for the Long Pond Tidal Wetland
Enhancement Project

SUMMARY:  The United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) submitted Permit Application 
2025-03 to conduct the Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project (Project), a two-phase 
habitat restoration effort within the Salmon Creek Unit of Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge 
(see Figures 1 - 3). The project site lies at the mouth of Long Pond within APN 308-191-008, where it 
connects to Hookton Slough on the south end of Humboldt Bay (Figure 1). The project involves the 
replacement of a failing tide gate structure and related water control infrastructure (Phase 1), and 
wetland habitat restoration activities involving the creation of ponds and tidal channeling, hydrology 
reconnection, and placement of large woody debris in wetland habitat (Phase 2).  

BACKGROUND: The Project Area is located within the Salmon Creek Unit of Humboldt Bay National 
Wildlife Refuge which was acquired by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service in 1989. The parcel 
consisted of tidal wetlands and mudflats prior to its conversion to agricultural lands in the 1930’s. 
Currently, the Project Area consists of a muted-tidal pond with adjacent upland habitat that is 
bound to the north and west by a levee system adjacent to Hookton Slough and to the east and 
south by subsided uplands and freshwater ponds and channels. A visitor hiking trail also surrounds 
the Project Area.  

Agenda Item 11b.



Page 2 of 5 

The Long Pond tide-gate structure, constructed in 1942, is a critical structure equipped with one-
way gates that prevent seawater from inundating Refuge properties. The structure is also a 
primary route for evacuating storm waters from the refuge. The Long Pond tide-gate structure is 
aging and has reached the point of failure, with sea water pipping along the outer wall, as well as 
under the structure. After several attempts to repair the structure, emergency measures were 
taken in 2024 to prevent catastrophic failure and flooding of the Refuge, including chaining the 
main tide-gates shut and backfilling the area with approximately 3,500 tons of dirt to stabilize the 
levee. The first phase of the Project will involve replacement of the Long Pond tide-gate structure. 
During the second phase of the Project, upland habitat adjacent to Long Pond will be restored to 
muted-tidal wetland, with the addition of ponds, channels, and large wood debris. 

DISCUSSION: Long Pond has experienced ecological degradation due to its altered hydrology and 
siltation caused by levees built over a century ago. To address these issues and enhance wildlife 
habitat, the Project will lower the elevation of upland areas adjacent to the Long Pond to support 
wetland vegetation, and reestablish ponds and channels within the restoration area to restore full 
tidal hydrology, expand hydrologic connectivity, and improve habitat for fish and wildlife. Ultimately, 
these efforts will promote long-term sustainability of the salt marsh habitat. 

Within the refuge, tide gates serve to regulate water levels on the upland side of the dikes. The existing 
tide gate at the mouth of Long Pond is a critical water control mechanism for the refuge to prevent 
seawater from flowing upstream during high tide, which would inundate refuge and public 
infrastructure, including highway 101. The new tide gate system is designed with manual operation 
features, allowing refuge staff to regulate tidal exchange and maintain optimal salinity and water levels 

Figure 1. Project Site and Location Map 



Page 3 of 5 

to support wetland vegetation and aquatic species (Figure 2). Large woody debris and native material 
used in the restoration will be sourced locally and placed strategically to reduce bank erosion and 
enhance natural habitat function. 

Phase 1 of the Project focuses on replacing a failing tide gate structure that is a critical water control 
mechanism for the refuge to prevent seawater from flowing upstream during high tide, which could 
inundate infrastructure. The existing structure is approximately 1,500 square feet in size and will be 
replaced with a dimensionally equivalent structure (Figure 3). To facilitate in-water construction, a 
68-foot-diameter sheet pile cofferdam will be installed around the existing tide gate to create a 
dewatered work zone. The current concrete structure, including wingwalls, will be fully removed and 
replaced with a sheet pile wall containing three 6-foot HDPE culverts. These culverts will be fitted 
with marine-grade aluminum tide gates—two side-opening and one top-hinged—to allow for 
adaptive tidal flow management.  

Phase 2 (Habitat Restoration) will restore approx. 2.8 acres of upland habitat adjacent to Long Pond 
by converting it into functional brackish and salt marsh wetlands. Restoration activities will include 
the excavation of tidal channels and ponds to improve hydrologic connectivity, expand floodplain 
function, and increase habitat diversity. Large woody debris, such as stumps and logs sourced from 
within the refuge, will be strategically placed to provide habitat structure, perching sites for birds, 
and sediment stabilization. Increased tidal exchange and connectivity will promote recovery and 
maintenance of tidal marsh habitats that support a variety of native fish, wildlife, and plant species, 
including Sensitive Natural Communities (SNC), rare plants, and State and Federal Endangered 
Species Act-listed fish, such as Coho Salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch), Chinook Salmon (O. 

Figure 2. Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project Components 



Page 4 of 5 

tshawytscha), Steelhead Trout (O. mykiss), Longfin Smelt (Spirinchus thaleichthys), and Tidewater 
Goby (Eucyclogobius newberryi).  

The submitted Application package, is available on the Harbor District’s website 
(https://humboldtbay.org/sites/humboldtbay.org/files/Harbor%20District%20Permit%20Application_with%2
0Eelgrass%20checklist_0.pdf) and includes: project description (updated May 2025), environmental 
setting, list of permits and other public approvals, design drawings, tide gate damage photos, 
environmental protection measures, and wetlands habitat restoration plan. The project’s 
environmental protection measures and best management practices to minimize environmental 
impacts are described in detail in the application materials and include general construction BMPs, 
water quality protection measures, erosion control, biological resource protection measures, and 
ongoing management for the protection of the environment.  

Phase 1 construction is scheduled for the seasonal window between June 15 and October 15, 2025. 
No work will occur below the mean high-water mark before July 1. Construction for Phase 2 is 
expected to take place over two work seasons, spanning from June 15 to October 31 in both 2026 
and 2027. Erosion and sediment control measures will be implemented throughout construction. In 
addition to pursuing a District permit, USFWS is also currently in the process of applying for other 
regulatory approvals. 

Humboldt Bay Management Plan Considerations 
Conservation Element planning policies identified in the Humboldt Bay Management Plan (HBMP) 
provide guidance for the District decision making with respect to conservation related projects. The 
policies focus on habitat protection, species protection, and wetland mitigation. Applicable policies 

Figure 3: Phase 1 Tide Gate Replacement 

https://humboldtbay.org/sites/humboldtbay.org/files/Harbor%20District%20Permit%20Application_with%20Eelgrass%20checklist_0.pdf
https://humboldtbay.org/sites/humboldtbay.org/files/Harbor%20District%20Permit%20Application_with%20Eelgrass%20checklist_0.pdf


Page 5 of 5 

include but are not limited to: CAE-2: Maintain, restore, and enhance aquatic ecosystem integrity; 
CAS-1: Maintain biological diversity and important habitats throughout Humboldt Bay; CAS-3: 
Maintain and enhance habitat for sensitive species; and CEP-5: Water Quality protection.  

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT: 
The HBHRCD, as lead agency, determined the project meets qualifying criteria for a CEQA Categorical 
Exemption Class 33 set forth in Section 15333 of Title 14, California Code of Regulations. This 
exemption applies to small habitat restoration projects that are undertaken for the purpose of 
maintaining, restoring, enhancing, or protecting the natural environment. The Project meets all of 
the following conditions: (1) the Project is limited to restoration, enhancement, or protection of 
habitat for fish, plants, or wildlife, (2) the Project must not exceed five acres in size and must not 
result in significant adverse impacts, (3) the Project will not result in significant adverse effect on 
endangered, rare, or threatened species or their habitat pursuant to Section 15065 of the CEQA 
Guidelines, (4) the Project site is not be located on a site that is included on any list compiled 
pursuant to Section 65962.5 of the Government Code, and (5) the Project will not result in 
cumulative impacts that are significant when viewed in connection with the effects of past, current, 
or probable future project. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Resolution No. 2025-03 Approving Harbor District Permit 2025-03 with Conditions for

the Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project

Attachment A-1. Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District Permit 2025-03
for the Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project 

B. California Environmental Quality Act – Notice of Exemption

Documents incorporated here by reference are on file with the Harbor District and available online 
and/or by request (https://humboldtbay.org/public-notices-announcements-information): 

• Update Project Description (May 2025)
• Application – Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project

(https://humboldtbay.org/sites/humboldtbay.org/files/Harbor%20District%20Permit%20Applic
ation_with%20Eelgrass%20checklist_0.pdf)

https://humboldtbay.org/public-notices-announcements-information
https://humboldtbay.org/sites/humboldtbay.org/files/Harbor%20District%20Permit%20Application_with%20Eelgrass%20checklist_0.pdf
https://humboldtbay.org/sites/humboldtbay.org/files/Harbor%20District%20Permit%20Application_with%20Eelgrass%20checklist_0.pdf


Page 1 of 3 

HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION, 
AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

__________________________________________________________________ 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-03 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING FINDINGS RELATIVE TO A CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL 
QUALITY ACT EXEMPTION AND APPROVING HARBOR DISTRICT PERMIT 2025-03 WITH 

CONDITIONS FOR THE LONG POND TIDAL WETLAND ENHANCEMENT PROJECT 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, and 
Conservation District (HBHRCD) is empowered by Appendix II of the Harbors and Navigation 
Code, and its own ordinances and resolutions, to grant permits, leases, rights, and privileges; and, 

WHEREAS, no permits, rights, leases, and privileges may be granted without first having 
considered certain potential impacts and without first having made findings relative to said 
impacts; and,  

WHEREAS, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) applied to the Humboldt Bay 
Harbor, Recreation, and Conservation District for the Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement 
Project “Project”; and  

WHEREAS,  HBHRCD, as the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) lead agency, 
finds the Project qualifies for a CEQA Class 33 Exemption for Small Habitat Restoration Projects; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners has been presented with certain evidence 
relating to the impact of the Project upon the air, land, environment, and ecology of the Bay 
under the jurisdiction of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, and Conservation District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE HUMBOLDT BAY 
HARBOR, RECREATION, AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. That the above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by this 
reference. The Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District has determined the 
project qualifies for a CEQA Notice of Exemption (NOE) under Class 33, §15333 (Small Habitat 
Restoration Projects), and there is no substantial evidence the project will have a significant 
effect on the environment.  

SECTION 2. That the Board of Commissioners of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and 
Conservation District has found, after considering the impact of the proposed use upon the air, 
water, land, environment, and ecology of the lands under the jurisdiction of the Humboldt Bay 
Harbor, Recreation, and Conservation District, that: 

Agenda Item 11b.
Attachment A



Page 2 of 3 

a) The proposed uses are necessary to promote public safety, health, comfort, and
convenience of the public;

b) The proposed uses are required by the public convenience and necessity;
c) The proposed uses will not have any substantial adverse environmental or ecological

effect;
d) The proposed use is consistent with the Humboldt Bay Management Plan including but

are not limited to: CAE-2: Maintain, restore, and enhance aquatic ecosystem integrity;
CAS-1: Maintain biological diversity and important habitats throughout Humboldt Bay;
CAS-3: Maintain and enhance habitat for sensitive species; and CEP-5: Water Quality
protection;

e) The permit, right, or privilege is reasonably required by public convenience to promote
growth, and to meet area demands, and does not adversely affect the environment or
ecology of the area to any substantial degree; and

f) The proposed use will not produce an unreasonable burden on the natural resources
and aesthetics of the area, on the public health and safety, and air and water quality in
the vicinity of Humboldt Bay, or on the parks, recreation and scenic area, historic sites
and buildings, or archeological sites in the area.

SECTION 3. That the Board of Commissioners does hereby issue Permit 2025-03 conditionally 
approving the Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project (Attachment A-1). 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation 
District Board of Commissioners at a duly called meeting held on the 12th day of June, 2025 by 
the following polled vote: 

AYES:  

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________ 
Stephen Kullmann, President 
Board of Commissioners 

__________________________________ 
Aaron Newman, Secretary 
Board of Commissioners   



Page 3 of 3 

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

The undersigned, duly qualified and acting Secretary of the HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT, does hereby certify that the attached Resolution is a true and correct copy 
of RESOLUTION NO. 2025-03 entitled, 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING FINDINGS RELATIVE TO A CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL 
QUALITY ACT EXEMPTION AND APPROVING HARBOR DISTRICT PERMIT 2025-03 WITH 

CONDITIONS FOR THE LONG POND TIDAL WETLAND ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  

as regularly adopted at a legally convened meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the HUMBOLDT 
BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT, duly held on the 12th day of June, 2025; and 
further, that such Resolution has been fully recorded in the Journal of Proceedings in my office, and is 
in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 12th day of June 2025. 

__________________________________ 
Aaron Newman, Secretary 
Board of Commissioners   



COMMISSIONERS 
1st Division: Aaron Newman 
2nd Division: Greg Dale 
3rd Division: Stephen Kullmann 
4th Division: Craig Benson 
5th Division: Jack Norton 

Humboldt Bay Harbor,  
Recreation and Conservation District 

(707) 443-0801 
P.O. Box 1030 

Eureka, California 95502-1030 

Page 1 of 4 Permit 2025-03 Long Pond Tidal Enhancement Project 

HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION 
AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT  

PERMIT 

Permit No. 2025-03  

Permittee:  Agent: 
US Fish and Wildlife Service Water, Civil, and Environmental Inc. 
Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge Ryan Eldridge  
1020 Ranch Road  (208) 401-5800
Loleta, CA 95551  reldridge@wce-inc.com
(707) 773-5406
Jason Storlie, Jason.storlie@fws.gov
Cashell Villa, Cashell.villa@fws.gov

The Board of Commissioners of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation 
District hereinafter referred to as “District”, having considered the Application herein, number 
2025-03, filed by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), hereinafter referred to as 
“Permittee”, and the District as lead agency, pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act 
of 1970, as amended, having made a determination adopting the Notice of Exemption (NOE) and 
the Board of Commissioners of the District having on June 12, 2025, passed Resolution No. 
2025-03 establishing findings relative to the Application by Permittee for the Long Pond Tidal 
Wetland Enhancement Project as provided for in this Permit, the Permittee is hereby authorized to 
perform the work as more particularly described in the Application filed with the District. 

You are hereby authorized to conduct that activity described in the Permit Application of 
Permittee consisting of: 

The Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project is a two-phase habitat restoration 
effort within the Salmon Creek Unit of the Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge, 
approximately 1 mile west of Highway 101 near Loleta, California (APN 308-191-008). 
Phase 1 involves removal and replacement of an existing failing tide gate structure at the 
mouth of Long Pond with a dimensionally equivalent structure (approx. 1,500 square feet). 
Phase 2 will restore upland habitat adjacent to Long Pond by converting it into functional 
brackish and salt marsh wetlands. 

SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 

1. If the Permittee materially changes the activity plan and scope, it will be
necessary to request a permit revision.

Agenda Item 11b.
Attachment A-1

mailto:reldridge@wce-inc.com
mailto:Jason.storlie@fws.gov
mailto:Cashell.villa@fws.gov


Page 2 of 4 Permit 2025-03 Long Pond Tidal Enhancement Project 

2. That all work authorized by this Permit shall further be subject to the approval
of the following public agencies as applicable:

A. California Coastal Commission
B. North Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board
C. California Department of Fish and Wildlife
D. United States Army Corps of Engineers

and Permittee shall fully comply with all regulations and conditions affecting 
such work as imposed by the above agencies. 

3. That this Permit, if not previously revoked or specifically extended, shall
cease and be null and void and terminate on June 12, 2026.  If Permittee
cannot complete the work within the time granted by this Permit, an
application for extension must be filed prior to the Permit termination date. Up
to four (4) one year extensions may be granted, for a total permit term of up to
five years.

4. Any in-water work requires a Spill Prevention, Control and Countermeasure
(SPCC) plan. Spill kits with appropriate contents will be maintained at the
project site. Kits shall be equipped with enough material to provide
preliminary containment for a volume of material that can reasonably be
expected to spill. Booms will be available to contain spilled materials.

5. All construction debris shall be removed from the site and disposed of only at
an authorized disposal site. Sidecasting of such material or placement of any
such material within Humboldt Bay or any wetland area is prohibited.

6. The Permittee shall have a tribal monitor for ground disturbing activities. The
monitor must be approved by Wiyot tribal representatives. Documentation
should be provided to the District that there is an agreement in place for a
tribal monitor prior to ground disturbing activities.

7. If archeological or cultural features or materials are unearthed during any
phase of project activity, all work in the immediate vicinity of the find shall halt
until the Permittee has contacted the Wiyot Tribe’s Cultural Department, and
the significance of the resource has been evaluated, to the satisfaction of the
Wiyot Tribe.  Any mitigation measures that may be deemed necessary will be
provided to the Wiyot Cultural Director for review and input to ensure they are
consistent with the standards for cultural resource mitigation particularly in
cooperation with Native American tribal representatives and the California
State Native American Heritage Commission. Mitigation measures shall be
implemented by a qualified archeologist representing the Permittee prior to
resumption of construction activities. If human remains are exposed by
project related activity, the Permittee shall comply with California State



Page 3 of 4 Permit 2025-03 Long Pond Tidal Enhancement Project 

Health and Safety Code, §7050.5, which states that no further disturbance 
shall occur until the County Coroner has made the necessary findings as to 
the origin and disposition pursuant to California Public Resources Code, 
§5097.98.

8. That there shall be no unreasonable interference with navigation by the work
herein authorized.

9. That no attempt shall be made by the Permittee to interfere or forbid the full
and free use by the public of all navigable waters at or adjacent to the work.

10. That the District, its Commissioners, or any officer or employee of the
District shall in no case be liable for any damages or injury of the work herein
authorized which may be caused by or result from future operations
undertaken by the District for the conservation or improvement of navigation,
or for other purposes, and no claim or right to compensation shall accrue from
any such damage.

11. That neither the District, nor its Board of Commissioners, nor any officer of
the District shall be liable to any extent for any such injury or damage to any
person or property or for the death of any person arising out of or connected
with the work authorized by this Permit.

12. That the Board of Commissioners of the District may revoke this Permit at
any time upon a finding by the District of a violation by the Permittee of any
condition of this Permit.

13. That the Permittee shall comply with any regulations, condition, or
instructions affecting the work hereby authorized if and when issued by the
Federal Water Pollution Control Administration and/or the State of California
Water Resources Control Agency having jurisdiction to abate or prevent water
pollution. Such regulations, conditions, or instruction in effect or prescribed by
Federal or State Agencies are hereby made a condition of this Permit.

14. That as a condition to the issuance of this Permit, Permittee agrees to
indemnify and hold harmless District from and against any and all liability,
loss, or damage District may suffer from claims and demands for attorneys’
fees, costs of suit, and costs of administrative records made against District
by any and all third parties as a result of third party environmental actions
against District arising out of the subject matter of this Permit, including, but
not limited to attorneys’ fees, costs of suit, and costs of administrative records
pursuant to the California Code of Civil Procedure §1021.5 or any other
applicable local, state or federal laws, whether such attorneys’ fees, costs of
suit, and costs of administrative records are direct or indirect, or incurred in
the compromise, attempted compromise, trial appeal or arbitration of claims



Page 4 of 4 Permit 2025-03 Long Pond Tidal Enhancement Project 

for attorneys’ fees, costs of suit, and costs of administrative records in 
connection with the subject matter of this Permit. 

15. That this Permit is valid as of June 12, 2025 and is made subject to the
Permittee approving and agreeing to the conditions above set forth and
executing said approval as hereinafter provided.

EXECUTED on this 12th day of June 2025, by authority of the Board of 
Commissioners of the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation 
District. 

_____________________________ 
STEPHEN KULLMANN, Chair 
Board of Commissioners 
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and 
Conservation District 

 The USFWS, Permittee, in the above Permit, hereby accepts and agrees to all 
of the conditions hereinabove set forth. Permittee shall indemnify and hold harmless 
the District, its Board of Commissioners, officers and employees from any and all 
claims of any nature arising from the performance of and work of improvement 
contained in the Application for injury, death or damage to any person or property. 

 The USFWS, Permittee, in the above Permit, agrees to indemnify and hold 
harmless District, its Board of Commissioners, officers and employees from and against 
any and all liability, loss or damage District may suffer from claims and demands from 
attorneys’ fees; costs of suit and costs of administrative records made against District by 
any and all third parties as a result of third party environmental actions against District 
arising out of the subject matter of this Permit including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees, 
costs of suit and costs of administrative records pursuant to the California Code of Civil 
Procedure §1021.5 or any other applicable local, state or federal laws, whether such 
attorney’s fees, costs of suit and costs of administrative records are direct or indirect, or 
incurred in the compromise, attempted compromise, trial, appeal or arbitration of claims for 
attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and costs of administrative records in connection with the 
subject matter of this Permit. 

Dated:  ____________________ 

___________________________ 
USFWS Representative 



1 

COMMISSIONERS 
1st Division: Aaron Newman 
2nd Division: Greg Dale 
3rd Division: Stephen Kullmann 
4th Division: Craig Benson 
5th Division: Jack Norton 

 
 
 
 
 

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT - NOTICE OF EXEMPTION 

To: County of Humboldt From:  Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, 
County Clerk   and Conservation District 
825 5th Street  601 Startare Drive 
Eureka, CA 95501 Eureka, CA 95501 

districtplanner@humboldtbay.org 

Project Title: Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement Project 

Project Applicant: US Fish and Wildlife Service, Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge, 
1020 Ranch Road, Loleta, CA 95551.  

Project Location:  Salmon Creek Unit of Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge at the mouth 
of Long Pond where it connects to Hookton Slough on the south end of Humboldt Bay within 
APN 308-191-008. 

Project Summary: The project involves the replacement of a failing tide gate structure 
(Phase 1) and wetland habitat restoration activities involving the creation of ponds and 
tidal channeling, hydrology reconnection, and placement of large woody debris in wetland 
habitat (Phase 2). Phase 1 of the Project focuses on replacing a failing tide gate structure 
that is a critical water control mechanism for the refuge to prevent seawater from flowing 
upstream during high tide, which could inundate infrastructure. The existing structure is 
approximately 1,500 square feet in size and will be replaced with a dimensionally 
equivalent structure. Phase 2 (Habitat Restoration) will restore approx. 2.8 acres of upland 
habitat adjacent to Long Pond by converting it into functional brackish and salt marsh 
wetlands. Restoration activities will include the excavation of tidal channels and ponds to 
improve hydrologic connectivity, expand floodplain function, and increase habitat 
diversity. 

Pertinent California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Exemption: The District has 
determined that the project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to Class 33, §15333 Small 
Habitat Restoration Projects and Class 2, §15302 Replacement or Reconstruction. The Class 
33 exemption applies to small habitat restoration projects that are undertaken for the 
purpose of maintaining, restoring, enhancing, or protecting the natural environment. The 
Project meets all of the following conditions: (1) the Project includes restoration, 
enhancement, and protection of habitat for fish, plants, or wildlife, (2) the Project does not 
exceed five acres in size and will not result in significant adverse impacts, (3) the Project 
will not result in significant adverse effect on endangered, rare, or threatened species or 
their habitat pursuant to Section 15065 of the CEQA Guidelines, (4) the Project site is not 

Humboldt Bay  
Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

(707) 443-0801
P.O. Box 1030

Eureka, California 95502-1030 

Agenda Item 11b.
Attachment B



2 

located on a site that is included on any list compiled pursuant to Section 65962.5 of the 
Government Code, and (5) the Project will not result in cumulative impacts that are 
significant when viewed in connection with the effects of past, current, or probable future 
project. The Class 2 exemption applies to the tide gate replacement and consists of 
replacement or reconstruction of existing structures and facilities where the new structure 
will be located on the same site as the structure replaced and will have substantially the 
same purpose and capacity as the structure replaced.  

Rationale for Exemption: The project involves replacement of an existing tide gate with a 
dimensionally equivalent structure, and tidal wetland restoration of approximately 2.8 
acres. The District has further determined that the use of the categorical exemption is not 
barred by any of the exceptions set forth in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2. The material 
supporting these finding is on file with the District and available for review upon request at 
the address listed below. Specifically: 

1. The cumulative impact of successive projects would not result in a significant impact. 
2. There are not unusual circumstances that create a reasonable possibility that the 

project will have a significant effect on the environment. 
3. The project would not impact scenic resources. 
4. The project is not located on a site which is included on any list compiled pursuant to 

Section 65962.5 of the Government Code. 
5. The project would not cause a substantial adverse change to the significance of a 

historic structure. 
 

Lead Agency Contact: Rob Holmlund, Development Director  
    Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

601 Startare Drive, Eureka, CA 95501  
 

Signature: ________________________    Date:_______________ 
    



COMMISSIONERS 
1st Division 
  Aaron Newman 
2nd Division 
  Greg Dale 
3rd Division 
  Stephen Kullmann 
4th Division 
  Craig Benson 
5th Division 
  Jack Norton 

 

Page 1 of 1 

Humboldt Bay  
Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

(707) 443-0801
P.O. Box 1030

Eureka, California 95502-1030 
 

 
 
 

STAFF REPORT – HARBOR DISTRICT MEETING 
June 12, 2025 

TO:  Honorable Board President and Harbor District Board Members 

FROM: Mindy Hiley, Director of Administrative Services 

DATE: June 4, 2025 

TITLE: Accept the Audit Report for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year  
_________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board: Accept the Audit Report for the 2023-2024 
Fiscal Year. 

BACKGROUND: Harshwal & Company LLP prepared the independent auditors report for the fiscal 
year ending June 30th, 2024. See page 23 of the Audit for detailed information on restricted cash 
balances for the Dredge Surcharge and the Float Replacement Surcharge.  

DISCUSSION: The District is pleased to report that there were no findings or issues of concern found 
during the audit. Staff would like to encourage the Commissioners and members of the public to 
review the notes starting on page 17 of the Audited Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s 
Report, as they are an integral part of the financial statement. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

A. FY2023-2024 Audited Financial Statements

Agenda Item 11c.



®

Agenda Item 11c.
Attachment A



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

TABLE OF CONTENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

Page(s)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................1

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................4

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................11

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position - Proprietary Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................13

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................15

Notes to Basic Financial Statements................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................17

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................37

Schedule of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................38

Schedule of Pension Contributions................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................39

Statement of Revenues and Expenses - Budget to Actual - Marina................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................40

Statement of Revenues and Expenses - Budget to Actual - General................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................42

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Statement of Revenues and Expenses - Unrestricted and Tidelands Trust................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................44

Statement of Revenues and Expenses - Marina and General................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................46

COMPLIANCE SECTION

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................48

Schedule of Findings and Responses................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................50

Status of Prior Year's Findings and Responses................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................52



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Commissioners
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District
Eureka, California

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of Humboldt Bay
Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District (the "District"), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the business-type activities of the District as of June 30, 2024, and the
respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are required to be independent of the District, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue
as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

1



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government
Auditing Standards, we:

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 10, and the required supplementary information on pages
37 through 43, to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

2



Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the District's basic financial statements. The supplementary information, as listed in the table of
contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary
information, as listed in the table of contents, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 4, 2025,
on our consideration of the District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the District's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
District's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

San Diego, California
June 4, 2025

3



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

This section of Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District (the "District")’s annual
financial report represents our discussion and analysis of the District’s financial activities for the year
ended June 30, 2024. Please read it in conjunction with the Independent Auditor’s Report and the
District’s basic financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

 The District’s operating revenues decreased by $84,207, or 3.1 percent.

 The District’s operating expenses decreased by $67,009, or 1.68 percent.

 General revenues from taxes, interest, and investments accounted for $1,846,887 in revenues
or 23.8 percent of all revenues.

 The District had total expenditures of $7,482,313, and total revenue of $7,745,836. The resulting
increase in net position of $263,523 includes net government grant expenditures of $122,377,
and depreciation expense of $390,308.

 Notes payable debt has decreased by $173,725 from the prior year due to scheduled debt
service payments.

USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the District's basic financial
statements. The District's basic financial statements comprise two components: the financial statements
and the notes to the financial statements. This report also contains supplementary information in addition
to the basic financial statements themselves.

The basic financial statements are financial statements that provide both long-term and short-term
information about the District's overall financial status.

The financial statements also include notes that provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the financial statements.

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents a section
of required supplementary information that further explains and supports the information in the financial
statements.

REPORTING THE DISTRICT AS A WHOLE

The District as a whole is reported in the financial statements and uses accounting methods similar to
those used by companies in the private sector. All of the District’s assets and liabilities are included in the
Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position reports
all of the current year’s revenues and expenses regardless of when cash is received or paid. These
statements report the District's net position and how they have changed. The District’s financial health or
position (net position) can be measured by the difference between the District’s assets and liabilities.

Increases or decreases in the net position of the District over time are indicators of whether its financial
position is improving or deteriorating, respectively. Additional non-financial factors such as the condition
of buildings and other facilities, and changes in the property tax base of the District need to be
considered in assessing the overall health of the District.

4



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

REPORTING THE DISTRICT’S MOST SIGNIFICANT FUNDS

The District’s financial statements provide detailed information about the District’s one proprietary fund. 

Enterprise Fund:

Because a large portion of the District's revenues are obtained from various charges to customers, all of
the District's activities are accounted for in an enterprise fund, which is a proprietary fund type. Enterprise
funds provide both long and short-term financial information.

ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT AS A WHOLE

Our analysis below focuses on the net position (Table 1) and changes in net position (Table 2) of the
District's activities:

Table 1

Comparative Statement of Net Position

2024 2023 Change % Change

Assets:

Current assets $ 6,529,418 $ 7,193,295 $ (663,877) %(9.23)

Noncurrent assets 19,583,993 21,993,065 (2,409,072) %(10.95)

Total assets 26,113,411 29,186,360 (3,072,949) %(10.53)

Deferred outflows of resources 628,187 702,529 (74,342) %(10.58)

Liabilities:

Current liabilities 1,647,314 941,088 706,226 %75.04

Noncurrent liabilities 8,831,764 12,869,035 (4,037,271) %(31.37)

Total liabilities 10,479,078 13,810,123 (3,331,045) %(24.12)

Deferred inflows of resources 4,733,507 4,813,276 (79,769) %(1.66)

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 11,208,911 9,225,775 1,983,136 %21.50
Restricted 504,656 1,887,090 (1,382,434) %(73.26)

Unrestricted (184,554) 152,625 (337,179) %(220.92)

Total net position $ 11,529,013 $ 11,265,490 $ 263,523 %2.34

Total net position of the District increased by 2.34 percent, or $263,523 as of June 30, 2024.

5



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Table 2

Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

2024 2023 Change % Change

Operating Revenues

Sales and permits $ 13,267 $ 15,501 $ (2,234) %(14.41)
Slip rentals 910,089 932,767 (22,678) %(2.43)
Rents and leases 1,495,103 1,534,307 (39,204) %(2.56)
Harbor improvement surcharge 100,062 164,223 (64,161) %(39.07)

Other revenue 156,667 112,597 44,070 %39.14

Total operating revenues 2,675,188 2,759,395 (84,207) %(3.05)

Operating Expenses

Salaries, wages, and benefits 1,537,767 1,532,755 5,012 %0.33
Bad debts 296,634 111,761 184,873 %165.42
Depreciation 390,308 475,620 (85,312) %(17.94)
Repairs and maintenance 237,446 248,166 (10,720) %(4.32)
Professional and outside services 363,012 446,885 (83,873) %(18.77)
Redwood terminal 2 expenses 12,201 224,444 (212,243) %(94.56)
Utilities 520,404 439,286 81,118 %18.47

Other operating expenses 569,318 515,182 54,136 %10.51

Total operating expenses 3,927,090 3,994,099 (67,009) %(1.68)

Operating income (loss) (1,251,902) (1,234,704) (17,198) %(1.39)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

General property taxes 1,426,864 1,381,655 45,209 %3.27
Investment income (loss) 420,023 446,645 (26,622) %(5.96)
Grants income 3,222,761 1,253,663 1,969,098 %157.07
Other nonoperating income 1,000 42,083 (41,083) %(97.62)
Grant expenses (3,345,138) (1,300,960) (2,044,178) %(157.13)
Interest expenses (202,192) (138,365) (63,827) %(46.13)

Other nonoperating expenses (7,893) (12,797) 4,904 %38.32

Total nonoperating revenues
(expenses) 1,515,425 1,671,924 (156,499) %(9.36)

Change in net position $ 263,523 $ 437,220 $ (173,697) %(39.73)

Operating revenues decreased by $84,207 over the prior year, and operating expenses decreased by
$67,009. The decrease in operating revenue was due to a decrease in Harbor improvement surcharge
revenue of $64,161 and revenue from rent and leases of $39,204. 

6



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

NET POSITION OF THE DISTRICT'S ENTERPRISE FUND

Table 3 presents the net position of the District's one fund, the Enterprise Fund, and an analysis of
significant changes in the fund's net position.

Table 3

Changes in Year-End Net Position

2024 2023 Change % Change

Net Position, June 30, $11,529,013 $ 11,265,490 $ 263,523 %2.34

The 2.34 percent increase is due to increased property tax revenues and grant income and also
deceases in operating and nonoperating expenses.

Table 4 presents a summary of enterprise fund revenues for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the
amounts and percentages of increases and decreases of revenues in relation to the prior year.

Table 4

Summary of Revenues

2024 

Percent

of Total 2023 Change

%

Change

Revenues:

Sales and permits $ 13,267 %0.17 $ 15,501 $ (2,234) %(14.4)
Slip rentals 910,089 %11.75 932,767 (22,678) %(2.4)
Rents and leases 1,495,103 %19.30 1,534,307 (39,204) %(2.6)
Harbor improvement surcharge 100,062 %1.29 164,223 (64,161) %(39.1)
Other operating income 156,667 %2.02 112,597 44,070 %39.1
General property taxes 1,426,864 %18.42 1,381,655 45,209 %3.3
Investment income 420,023 %5.42 446,645 (26,622) %(6.0)
Grant and other nonoperating

incomes 3,223,761 %41.62 1,295,746 1,928,015 %148.8

Total revenues $ 7,745,836 %100.00 $ 5,883,441 $ 1,862,395 %31.7

Rents and leases decreased due to a reduction in Redwood Marine Terminal 2 rental income in 2023-24
due to the termination of the ground lease with Humboldt Bay Development Association. Slip rentals
decreased due to reduction in occupancy in 2023-24. Harbor Improvement Surcharge revenue
decreased due to a decrease in shipping in 2023-24. Interest income decreased due to a reduction in the
interest portion of lease payments in 2023-24. Grant revenue varies from year to year based on available
grant funding.

7



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Table 5 presents the variance between the District's budget and the actual results for the fiscal year. The
District had no budget modifications during the year, so the final budget and the adopted budget were
identical.

Table 5

Final Budget versus Actual Results

Original and

Final

Budget Actual Variance

Operating Revenues

Sales and permits $ 14,500 $ 13,267 $ (1,233)
Slip rentals 990,000 910,089 (79,911)
Rents and leases 1,864,400 1,495,103 (369,297)
Harbor improvement surcharge 180,000 100,062 (79,938)

Other revenue 118,595 156,667 38,072

Total operating revenues 3,167,495 2,675,188 (492,307)

Operating Expenses

Salaries, wages, and benefits 1,843,085 1,537,767 305,318
Bad debts 1,500 296,634 (295,134)
Depreciation - 390,308 (390,308)
Dredging 3,587,000 - 3,587,000
Professional and outside services 226,450 363,012 (136,562)
Redwood terminal 2 expenses 18,000 12,201 5,799
Repairs and maintenance 293,200 237,446 55,754
Utilities 422,350 520,404 (98,054)

Other operating expenses 801,134 569,318 231,816

Total operating expenses 7,192,719 3,927,090 3,265,629

Operating income (loss) (4,025,224) (1,251,902) 2,773,322

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

General property taxes 1,320,000 1,426,864 106,864
Investment income (loss) 12,000 420,023 408,023
Grants income 5,784,694 3,222,761 (2,561,933)
Other nonoperating income - 1,000 1,000
Grant expenses (5,123,924) (3,345,138) 1,778,786
Interest expenses (264,555) (202,192) 62,363

Other nonoperating expenses (12,300) (7,893) 4,407

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 1,715,915 1,515,425 (200,490)

Change in net position $ (2,309,309) $ 263,523 $ 2,572,832

8



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Final Budget versus Actual Results

The favorable variance of $305,318 in salaries, wages, and benefits was due to changes in the District's
portion of the State-wide PERS liability and a decrease in the District's liability for other post-employment
benefits. The unfavorable variance of $390,308 in depreciation was due to the District's policy of the
budgeting for actual capital outlay for the year rather than depreciation expenses. The favorable variance
of $3,587,000 in dredging expense is due to the capitalization of dredging expenditures. The unfavorable
variance of $98,054 in utilities is due to higher than anticipated utility expenses. The favorable variance of
$408,023 in investment income is due to the ongoing application of GASB 87, Leases, and the resulting
reporting of a portion of lease payments as interest income rather than lease income. The unfavorable
variance of $2,561,933 in grant revenue and the favorable balance of $1,778,786 in grant expenses is
due to changes in available and expended grants. The favorable variance of $4,407 in other
nonoperating expenses is due to the District's policy of including the principal portion of debt service
payments in the budget, and the inclusion of reserve additions and withdrawals in the budget.

Capital Assets

The District's total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, as of June 30, 2024 was $16,538,222.
The total increase in net capital assets from the prior year was 28%. This increase was due to capital
acquisitions during the current year. Capital asset balances as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as
follows:

Table 6

Comparative Schedule of Capital Assets

2024 2023 Change

Land, building, and improvement $ 28,589,253 $ 26,260,652 $ 2,328,601
Automotive equipment 95,639 95,639 -
Office and operating equipment 3,977,194 3,977,194 -

Dredging costs 3,256,058 1,566,367 1,689,691

Subtotals 35,918,144 31,899,852 4,018,292

Less: accumulated depreciation (19,379,922) (18,989,614) (390,308)

Capital assets, net $ 16,538,222 $ 12,910,238 $ 3,627,984

9



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Debt Administration

The District incurred no new long-term debt in 2023-24. The increase in net pension liability was a result
of an increase in the District's share of the State-wide CalPERS net pension liability. The District is
required to report its proportionate share of that liability in its financial statements. The decrease in other
post-employment benefits was due to changes in staff eligible for other post-employment benefits. The
ending balances for debts and other long-term liabilities, as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 are presented
below in Table 7.

Table 7

Debt and Other Long-Term Liabilities

2024 2023 Change

Notes Payable:

Refunding Bonds Series 2014 $ 1,500,802 $ 1,621,350 $ (120,548)
Compass BBVA Bank Loan 854,830 908,007 (53,177)

Sale installment note payable 5,454,000 5,454,000 -

Total notes payable 7,809,632 7,983,357 (173,725)

Other Long-Term Liabilities:

OPEB 139,510 169,351 (29,841)

Net pension liability 1,488,345 1,408,435 79,910

Total debt and other long-term liabilities $ 9,437,487 $ 9,561,143 $ (123,656)

ECONOMIC FACTORS

The ground lease with Humboldt Bay Development Association was terminated during the fiscal year
2023-24 and resulted in proceeds being applied against the note receivable and enhancing the value of
capital assets held by the District.

The District is in the planning and permitting phase of a Multipurpose Heavy Left Marine Terminal on
Humboldt Bay with an opportunity to support the emerging offshore wind industry. This project has been
the recipient of multiple grant awards totaling over a half billion dollars with the goal of replacing
antiquated marine infrastructure, rural job creation and, attracting an emerging industry to Humboldt
County. The District is also actively marketing cruise lines and other shippers to expand Humboldt Bay as
a port of call. Also coming to conclusion is the development of a large scale recirculating aquaculture
facility which has now received all of its discretionary and administrative development permits.

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the District's finances for all those with
an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to:

Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District
 P.O. Box 1030

Eureka, California 95502

10



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUND
JUNE 30, 2024

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,722,700
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 504,656
Account and grant receivables, net 1,370,670
Interest receivable 13,750
Prepaid insurance 187,590

Lease receivable 730,052

Total current assets 6,529,418

NONCURRENT ASSETS:

Nondepreciable capital assets 9,016,928
Depreciable capital assets, net 7,521,294

Lease receivable, net of current portion 3,045,771

Total noncurrent assets 19,583,993

Total assets 26,113,411

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension 621,260
OPEB 730

Bond refunding 6,197

Total deferred outflows of resources 628,187

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 26,741,598

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
11



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUND
JUNE 30, 2024

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable $ 607,228
Accrued wages, payroll taxes, and benefit 33,763
Unearned income 158,859
Compensated absences 50,957
Customer deposits payable 190,784

Notes payable 605,723

Total current liabilities 1,647,314

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:

Net OPEB liabilities 139,510
Net pension liabilities 1,488,345

Notes payable, net of current portion 7,203,909

Total noncurrent liabilities 8,831,764

Total liabilities 10,479,078

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

OPEB 717
Pension 70,872
Lease 3,547,189
CalTrans Spartina 996,746

CalTrans Eelgrass 117,983

Total deferred inflows of resources 4,733,507

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 15,212,585

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 11,208,911
Restricted 504,656

Unrestricted (184,554)

Total net position 11,529,013

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position $ 26,741,598

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
12



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
- PROPRIETARY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

OPERATING REVENUES

Sales and permits $ 13,267
Slip rentals 910,089
Rents and leases 1,495,103
Harbor improvement surcharge 100,062

Other revenue 156,667

Total operating revenues 2,675,188

OPERATING EXPENSES

Payroll and related cost 1,537,767
Commissioner's fees 30,000
Accounting and auditing 87,605
Advertising and promotion 5,299
Automobile expenses 29,367
Bad debts 296,634
Communications 20,917
Conference and meetings 22,992
Depreciation 390,308
Dues and subscriptions 56,472
Election and property tax administration fee 77,625
Insurance 152,294
Rent and lease 1,256
Legal and other professional fees 341,765
Office expenses 64,389
Operating supplies 20,486
Outside service 21,247
Redwood terminal 2 expenses 12,201
Repairs, maintenance, and small tools 237,446
Utilities 520,404
Dredging expense (555)

Other operating expenses 1,171

Total operating expenses 3,927,090

Operating income (loss) $ (1,251,902)

Continued...

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
13



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
- PROPRIETARY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

General property taxes $ 1,426,864
Investment income (loss) 420,023
Governmental grant 3,222,761
Other nonoperating incomes 1,000
Grant expenses (3,345,138)
Interest expenses (202,192)

Other nonoperating expenses (7,893)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 1,515,425

Change in net position 263,523

Net position, beginning 11,265,490

Net position, ending $ 11,529,013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
14



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments to customers $ (1,421,402)
Payments to suppliers (1,862,939)

Payments to employees (1,482,190)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (4,766,531)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Taxes for general operations 1,426,864
Receipt of grant and contract funds from other governments 3,222,761
Expenditures of grant funds (3,345,138)
Payments for other nonoperating costs (7,893)

Other nonoperating receipts 1,000

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities 1,297,594

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments to acquire, construct, and improve capital assets (4,018,292)
Principal payments on notes payable and bonds (173,725)
Interest paid (199,718)

Leases 194,299

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (4,197,436)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 129,852

Proceeds from note receivable 5,849,375

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 5,979,227

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,687,146)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 5,914,502

Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ 4,227,356

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION RECONCILIATION

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,722,700

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 504,656

Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ 4,227,356

Continued...

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
15



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income (loss) $ (1,251,902)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Bad debts 296,634
Depreciation 390,308

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, excluding bad debts (870,413)
Prepaid expenses (164,046)
Accounts payable - related to operating activities 300,122
Customer deposits payable (2,408)
Accrued liabilities (18,903)
Pension and OPEB liability and deferred outflows and inflows of

resources 40,277

Unearned income (3,486,200)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ (4,766,531)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
16



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District (the "District")
have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to the
government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.

This summary of significant accounting policies of the District is presented to assist in understanding the
financial statements. The financial statements and notes are representations of management, who is
responsible for their integrity and objectivity. These accounting policies have been consistently applied in
the preparation of financial statements.

A. Reporting Entity

The accompanying financial statements include all organizations, activities, and functions that comprise
the District. The District has no oversight responsibility over any other governmental unit and is not
included in any other governmental “reporting entity” as defined in GASB pronouncements. The District is
governed by a five-member Board of Commissioners from the five supervisorial districts in Humboldt
County.

B. Nature of Activities

The District is a special district created in 1970 by the State of California. The District was formed for the
development of Humboldt County's harbors and ports, for the promotion of commerce, navigation,
fisheries, and recreation thereon, as well as the protection of the County's natural resources.

C. Basis of Presentation

The financial statements required by GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments, as amended by GASB
Statement No. 63, include a statement of net position, a statement of revenues, expenses, and changes
in net position, and a statement of cash flows. 

The District utilizes an enterprise fund, which is a proprietary fund type. Proprietary funds are used to
account for activities similar to those found in the private sector, where the determination of net income is
necessary or useful to sound financial administration. Enterprise funds account for goods or services that
are provided to outside parties. The District has elected to use the reporting model for special-purpose
governments engaged only in business-type activities. In accordance with the business-type activities
reporting model, the District prepares its statement of cash flows using the direct method.

D. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting

Measurement focus refers to what is being measured. The basis of accounting refers to the timing of the
recognition of revenues and expenditures in the accounts and their reporting in the financial statements.
Proprietary fund types are accounted for on an economic resources measurement focus using the
accrual basis of accounting in which revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are
recognized when the related liabilities are incurred.

The District distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with the principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the District are
charges to customers for rents and tidelands leases and harbor improvement surcharges. Operating
expenses include the cost of maintaining the marina and tidelands, general and administrative expenses,
and depreciation of capital assets.

17



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONT'D

D. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting - Cont'd

All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and
expenses. Other government grants represent nonoperating revenues received from other agencies
related to harbor projects, including Spartina eradication, homeland security, port access, aquaponics
expansion, and other initiatives. Other nonoperating income includes the portion of the PG&E funding
(see Note 10) that has been recognized. Grant expenses primarily represent nonoperating expenses
related to the other government grants nonoperating revenues.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, the District uses restricted
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

E. Budget and Budgetary Accounting

The Board of Commissioners adopts a budget annually to be effective July 1st of the ensuing fiscal year.
Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Budgetary data
for expenses, as revised, are presented in the accompanying supplementary information.

F. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The District evaluates the collectability of receivables in order to determine the allowance for doubtful
accounts. As of June 30, 2024, the District recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts of $34,817.
Based on historical experience, the District does not expect additional amounts to become uncollectable;
however, if they are, they will be charged to operations as a bad debt expense. The impact of any bad
debt expense recorded in the future is expected to be immaterial to the financial statements.

G. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be all cash on hand, demand deposits, and pooled cash
and investments. The pooled cash and investments consist of cash pooled with the Humboldt County
Treasurer's Investment Pool and are used as a demand deposit account.

The District follows the authority governing investments for municipal governments set forth in the
California Government Code, Sections 53601 through 53659. The County Treasurer’s Investment Pool is
administered by the County of Humboldt Treasurer’s Office and conforms to the California Government
Code. The County’s portfolio normally consists of U.S. Treasury issues, U.S. Agency agreements,
banker’s acceptances, and the State of California Local Agency Investment Fund. All cash invested by
the County in demand deposit accounts is collateralized to 110 percent with approved U.S. Government
securities, such as Treasury Bills and other U.S. Treasury issues. 

The fair value of the District’s investments in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial
statements at amounts based upon the District’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by the County
Treasury for the entire County Treasury portfolio.

H. Capital Assets

The capitalization threshold for all capital assets is $2,000. All capital assets are valued at historical cost
or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available. Assets that individually may be below
threshold amounts are capitalized if collectively, they are above the threshold amount.

18



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONT'D

H. Capital Assets - Cont'd

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is charged as an expense against operations, with
accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net position. Depreciation has been provided over
the estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Assets class Useful life

Equipment 3 - 10 Years
Dredging projects 10 Years

Buildings and improvements 5 - 40 Years

I. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

J. Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources. The District reports three categories of net position, as follows:

 Net investment in capital assets consists of net capital assets reduced by outstanding balances of
any related debt obligations and deferred inflows of resources attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of those assets and increased by balances of deferred outflows of
resources related to those assets.

 Restricted net position is considered restricted, if its use is constrained to a particular purpose.
Restrictions are imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, laws, or regulations. 

 Unrestricted net position consists of all other net positions that do not meet the definition of “net
investment in capital assets” or “restricted net position” and are available for general use by the
District.

K. Property Taxes

The lien date for secured property taxes is March 1st of each year. Taxes are levied as of July 1st on all
secured real property and are due and payable on November 1st and February 1st of the following fiscal
year. Humboldt County is responsible for assessing, collecting, and distributing property taxes in
accordance with enabling legislation.

Since the passage of California Proposition 13, beginning with the fiscal year 1978-79, taxes are based
either on a 1% rate applied to the 1975-76 assessed value of the property, or on 1% of the sales price of
the property on sales transactions and construction which occur after the 1975-76 assessment.
Assessed values on properties (exclusive of increases related to sales transactions and improvements)
can rise at a maximum of 2% per year. The amount collected by the County is distributed in accordance
with State law to the various public agencies. Therefore, the District does not levy a specific tax rate but
receives a share of the property tax revenue based on the State formula.

19



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONT'D

K. Property Taxes - Cont'd

During fiscal year 1993-94, an alternate method of property tax allocation (the “Teeter Plan”) was
adopted by the County. Under this Plan, the County's auditor/controller distributes 100 percent of current
secured taxes billed to taxing entities during the current year, whether collected or not. The District
recognizes property tax revenues on the accrual basis of accounting.

L. Postemployment Benefits other than Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
District’s Plan (OPEB Plan) and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position have
been determined on the same basis. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when currently
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

M. Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the District’s California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) Plan (the "Plan")
and additions to/deductions from the Plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same
basis as they are reported by CalPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of
employee contributions) are recognized when they are currently due and payable in accordance with the
benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

N. Leases

Lessee

The District initially measures the lease liability at the present value of payments expected to be made
during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease liability is reduced by the principal portion of lease
payments made. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted
for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs.
Subsequently, the leased asset is amortized on a straight line basis over its useful life.

Key estimates and judgments related to leases include how the District determines (1) the discount rate it
uses to discount the expected lease payments to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease payments.

 The District uses the interest rate charged by the lessor as the discount rate. When the interest rate
charged by the lessor is not provided, the District generally uses its estimated incremental borrowing
rate as the discount rate for leases.

 The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease. Lease payments included in the
measurement of the lease liability are composed of fixed payments and purchase option price that the
District is reasonably certain to exercise.

The District monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and will
remeasure the lease asset and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect
the amount of the lease liability.

20



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONT'D

N. Leases - Cont'd

Lessor

The District initially measures the lease receivable at the present value of payments expected to be
received during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease receivable is reduced by the principal portion of
lease payments received. The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured as the initial amount of
the lease receivable, adjusted for lease payments received at or before the lease commencement date.
Subsequently, the deferred inflow of resources is recognized as revenue over the life of the lease term.

Key estimates and judgments include how the District determines (1) the discount rate it uses to discount
the expected lease receipts to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease receipts.

 The District uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for leases.

 The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease. Lease receipts included in the
measurement of the lease receivable is composed of fixed payments from the lessee.

The District monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its leases, and
will remeasure the lease receivable and deferred inflows of resources if certain changes occur that are
expected to significantly affect the amount of the lease receivable.

O. Compensated Absences

All vested vacation is recognized as an expense and as a liability at the anniversary date of hire during
the year ended June 30, 2024. The liability for compensated absences is reported as accrued vacation
payable. Additionally, 50% of accrued sick hours over 240 is vested and reported as accrued sick leave
payable. The accrued vacation payable and accrued sick leave payable are payable from unrestricted
current assets.

P. Current Accounting Pronouncements

The District adopted the following new accounting pronouncements issued by the GASB during the
current fiscal year ended June 30, 2024:

GASB has issued Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – an amendment of
GASB Statement No. 62, effective for the year ending June 30, 2024. This Statement amends GASB
Statement No. 62 in order to enhance accounting and financial reporting requirements for accounting
changes and error corrections. 

21



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONT'D

Q. Future Accounting Pronouncements

The District has adopted all current statements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) that are applicable. As of June 30, 2024, the District implemented the following new standards
issued by GASB:

GASB has issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, effective for the year ending June 30,
2025. This Statement amends the existing requirements related to Compensated Absences by updating
the recognition and measurement guidance.

GASB has issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, effective for the year ending June 30,
2025. This Statement’s objective is to provide users of governmental financial statements with essential
information about risks related to a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations or
constraints.

GASB has issued Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model Improvements, effective for the year
ending June 30, 2026. This Statement’s objective is to improve key components of the financial reporting
model to enhance effectiveness in providing information that is essential for decision making and
assisting a government’s accountability. Additionally, the statements also address certain application
issues.

GASB has issued Statement No. 104, New Capital Asset Disclosures, effective for the year ending June
30, 2026, which requires capital assets held for sale, intangible assets, lease assets, and subscription
assets to be broken out separately in note disclosure.

The District will evaluate the impact each of these pronouncements may have on its financial statements
and will implement them as applicable and when material.

22



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 2 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2024, were classified in the accompanying financial
statements as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,722,700

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 504,656

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 4,227,356

Restricted cash and cash equivalents activity as of June 30, 2024 was as follows:

Marina

Dredging

Surcharge

Float

Replacement

Surcharge Total

Unexpended cash from marina dredging and float
replacement surcharges, July 01, 2023 $ 1,261,572 $ 625,518 $ 1,887,090

Collections during the year 233,363 73,494 306,857

Less: amount spent during the year (1,689,291) - (1,689,291)

Unexpended cash from marina dredging and float
replacement surcharges, June 30, 2024 $ (194,356) $ 699,012 $ 504,656

Restricted cash, June 30, 2024 $ 504,656

Total cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2024, consisted of the following:

Cash on hand $ 1,180

Deposits held with financial institutions 2,924,822

Deposits held with the County Treasurer’s Investment Pool 1,301,354

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 4,227,356

The District may invest in any obligations, bonds, or securities in accordance with Section 53601 of the
California Government Code, provided that the investment is in compliance with any debt covenant.

Fair value of Deposits held with the County Treasurer’s Investment Pool as of June 30, 2024, was
$1,275,068.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a failure by a financial institution, a
government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that
are in the possession of an outside party. The California Government Code requires that financial
institutions secure cash deposits made by state or local governments by pledging securities as collateral.
The fair value of the pledged securities must equal at least 110% of the amount deposited by the public
agencies. California law also allows financial institutions to secure the District's deposits by pledging first
trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits. The District may waive
collateral requirements for cash deposits that are fully insured up to $250,000 by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation.

23



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 2 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CONT'D

Custodial Credit Risk - Cont'd

The District has not waived the collateralization requirement. The District had deposits with bank
balances totaling $2,879,678 as of June 30, 2024. The District had an uninsured balance of $2,611,196,
held with bank as of June 30, 2024.

The custodial credit risk for the County Treasurer’s Investment Pool is the risk that, in the event of the
failure of the counterparty to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its
investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of another party. Custodial credit risk does
not apply to a local government's indirect investment in securities through the use of government
investment pools.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. The District does not have a specific policy which relates to interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the
investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization; however, the external investment pool with the County Treasury is not rated.

NOTE 3 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Changes in capital assets as of June 30, 2024, were as follows:

Beginning

Balance Additions Deletions

Ending

Balance

Nondepreciable capital assets:

Land $ 8,801,701 $ - $ - $ 8,801,701

Dredging costs (old harbor) 215,227 - - 215,227

Total nondepreciable capital assets 9,016,928 - - 9,016,928

Depreciable capital assets:
Building and improvement 17,458,951 2,328,601 - 19,787,552
Automotive equipment 95,639 - - 95,639
Office and operating equipment 3,977,194 - - 3,977,194

Dredging costs 1,351,140 1,689,691 - 3,040,831

Total depreciable capital assets 22,882,924 4,018,292 - 26,901,216

Less: accumulated depreciation (18,989,614) (390,308) - (19,379,922)

Depreciable capital assets, net 3,893,310 3,627,984 - 7,521,294

Total capital assets, net $ 12,910,238 $ 3,627,984 $ - $ 16,538,222

The total depreciation expense charged to operations for the year ended June 30, 2024, was $390,308.

24



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 4 - NOTES PAYABLE

The following is a schedule of the changes in notes payable as of June 30, 2024:

Beginning

Balance Deletion

Ending

Balance

Current

Portion

Series 2014 Refunding Bonds $ 1,621,350 $ (120,548) $ 1,500,802 $ 248,560

Compass BBVA Bank Loan 908,007 (53,177) 854,830 111,163

Series 2023 Installment Sale Obligations 5,454,000 - 5,454,000 246,000

Total $ 7,983,357 $ (173,725) $ 7,809,632 $ 605,723

Refunding of Debt:

On December 22, 2014, the District issued $3,333,674 in revenue bonds with an interest rate of 4.1
percent, to refund $2,180,000 of outstanding 2004 revenue bonds with an average interest rate of 5.417
percent and $1,241,382 of notes payable to the California Department of Boating and Waterways with an
interest rate of 4.5 percent. The bonds are secured by net revenues of the District. The District used
$217,702 of proceeds from the debt service reserve fund on the 2004 revenue bonds to fund the
refunding issuance costs and reduce the balance borrowed on the 2014 refunding bonds.

The District used $43,600 of the proceeds from the refund to pay a call premium on the refunding. The
call premium is recorded as a deferred outflow of resources and amortized as interest expense over the
15-year term of the bonds.

The annual requirements to amortize the outstanding bonds payable, as of June 30, 2024, are as follows:

Year Ending

June 30 Principal Interest Total

2025 $ 248,560 $ 59,011 $ 307,571

2026 258,855 48,716 307,571

2027 269,577 37,994 307,571

2028 280,743 26,828 307,571

2029 292,371 15,199 307,570

2030 150,696 3,089 153,785

Total $ 1,500,802 $ 190,837 $ 1,691,639

25



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 4 - NOTES PAYABLE - CONT'D

Compass BBVA Bank Loan:

On March 8, 2016, the District borrowed $1,560,000 from Compass BBVA Bank, at a 5.99% annual
interest rate. Payments of principal and interest are due semiannually with the first payment due July 1,
2016. The loan matures on July 1, 2030. In conjunction with this loan, the District entered into an
installment sale agreement and pledged all net revenues as collateral with Compass BBVA Bank for the
payment of this obligation.

As of June 30, 2024, future debt service related to this loan was as follows:

Year Ending

June 30 Principal Interest Total

2025 $ 111,163 $ 49,574 $ 160,737

2026 117,921 42,815 160,736

2027 125,091 35,646 160,737

2028 132,696 28,041 160,737

2029 367,959 33,726 401,685

Total $ 854,830 $ 189,802 $ 1,044,632

Series 2023 Installment Sale Obligations

The District has entered into an agreement, represented by this Promissory Note, pursuant to the 2023
Installment Sale Agreement dated May 01, 2023. The agreement is executed and delivered by the
District with Signature Public Funding Corp., a New York corporation and non-bank affiliate of Flagstar
Bank.

The District promises to pay the total borrowed amount of $5,454,000 and interest is calculated at the
rate of 4.25% from the Closing Date of May 25, 2023, or from the most recent 2023 obligation payment
date to which interest has been paid or duly provided. Interest will be payable semiannually on each
obligation payment date until the borrowed amount of $5,454,000 is paid in full. 

As of June 30, 2024, future debt service related to this loan was as follows:

Year Ending

June 30 Principal Interest Total

2025 $ 246,000 $ 226,568 $ 472,568

2026 280,000 215,390 495,390

2027 292,000 203,235 495,235

2028 304,000 190,570 494,570

2029 317,000 177,374 494,374

2030 - 2034 1,410,000 565,803 1,975,803

2035 - 2039 2,605,000 345,632 2,950,632

Total $ 5,454,000 $ 1,924,572 $ 7,378,572

26



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 5 - LEASE RECEIVABLES

The District entered into various Lease Agreement with lease terms ranging from 1 to 29 years. As of
June 30, 2024, the receivable balance was $3,775,823. The annual discount rate is 7 percent and
monthly lease payments range from $48 to $9,429. Deferred inflow of resources was $3,547,189 and
revenue recognized was $980,138.

Minimum lease payments receivable are as follows: 

Year Ending

June 30 Principal Interest Total

2025 $ 730,052 $ 243,080 $ 973,132

2026 704,322 192,365 896,687

2027 367,107 153,849 520,956

2028 244,011 131,992 376,003

2029 120,016 118,839 238,855

2030-2034 657,596 453,892 1,111,488

2035-2039 356,081 273,577 629,658

2040-2044 445,502 140,518 586,020

2045-2050 151,136 19,885 171,021

Total $ 3,775,823 $ 1,727,997 $ 5,503,820

NOTE 6 - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

A. Plan Description

The District has established the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, and Conservation District Retiree
Healthcare Plan (HC Plan), a single-employer plan. The HC Plan provides healthcare insurance for
eligible retirees and their spouses. The District pays 100% of the health insurance premiums for retired
employees with a minimum of ten years of service and who have reached a minimum of fifty-five years of
age up until age sixty-five.  The District pays 50% of the health insurance premiums for the retiree
spouse, who must enroll in Medicare, if eligible.  Any employee hired after December 1, 2011, will not be
eligible for retiree health insurance. The HC Plan has not established or accumulated any assets in a
trust.  A separate financial report has not been prepared for the HC Plan.

Employees Covered

As of June 30, 2024, actuarial valuation, the following current and former employees were covered by the
benefit terms under the HC Plan:

Active employees 1
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2

Inactive employees entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits 0

Total 3

27



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 6 - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CONT'D

B. Contributions

The HC Plan and its contribution requirements are established by agreements with the applicable
employee bargaining units and may be amended by agreements between the District and the bargaining
units. The annual contribution is based on the current insurance premiums due for the participating
retirees.  For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024, the District’s cash contributions were $37,184, and
there was no estimated implied subsidy, resulting in total payments of $37,184. No trust has been
created for the purpose of prefunding obligations for past services.

C. Funding Policy

The District funds post-employment health benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. For the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2024, the District's contributions for post-employment health benefit costs were $38,434.

D. Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation

The District’s Net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2024 and the Total OPEB liability used to
calculate the Net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2024.

E. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions:

The Total OPEB liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry-age actuarial cost method

Discount Rate 3.93%

Inflation 2.5%

Salary Increases 2.75% per annum, in aggregate

Investment Rate of Return 3.93% net of expenses

Mortality Rate Derived using 2021 CalPERS Mortality for Miscellaneous
and Schools Employees tables

Pre-Retirement Turnover Derived using 2021 CalPERS Turnover for Miscellaneous
Employees tables

Healthcare Trend Rate 4.00%

There were no plan assets as of June 30, 2024.

F. Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.93%, based on an index of 20-year
General Obligation municipal bonds. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate
assumed that District contributions would be sufficient to fully fund the obligation over a period not to
exceed 30 years.

28



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 6 - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CONT'D

G. Information Related to Assumptions and Other Inputs

The following is the table on which the assumptions are based.

Mortality 2021 CalPERS Mortality for Miscellaneous and Schools Employees

The mortality assumptions are based on the 2021 CalPERS Mortality for Miscellaneous
and Schools Employees table created by CalPERS. CalPERS periodically studies
mortality for participating agencies and establishes mortality tables that are modified
versions of commonly used tables.

2021 CalPERS Retiree Mortality for Miscellaneous and Schools Employees

The mortality assumptions are based on the 2021 CalPERS Retiree Mortality for
Miscellaneous and Schools Employees table created by CalPERS. CalPERS periodically
studies mortality for participating agencies and establishes mortality tables that are
modified versions of commonly used tables.

Retirement 2021 CalPERS 2.0%@55 Rates for Miscellaneous Employees

The retirement assumptions are based on the 2021 CalPERS 2.0%@55 Rates for
Miscellaneous Employees table created by CalPERS. CalPERS periodically studies the
experience for participating agencies and establishes tables that are appropriate for each
pool.

Turnover 2021 CalPERS Turnover for Miscellaneous Employees

The turnover assumptions are based on the 2021 CalPERS Turnover for Miscellaneous
Employees table created by CalPERS. CalPERS periodically studies the experience for
participating agencies and establishes tables that are appropriate for each pool.

For other assumptions, actual plan provisions and plan data were used.

The alternative measurement method was not used in this valuation.

H. Changes in Net OPEB Liability

The changes in Net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2024 are as follows:

Net OPEB liability – beginning of year $ 169,351

Service cost 2,939
Interest on total OPEB liability 5,556
Employer contribution as Benefit Payments (37,184)

Changes in assumptions (1,152)

Net changes during 2023-24 (29,841)

Net OPEB liability – end of year $ 139,510

29



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 6 - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CONT'D

I. Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the Net OPEB
liability, as well as what the Net OPEB liability would be, if it was calculated using a discount rate (3.93
percent) that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.93 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.93 percent) than
the current discount rate:

Discount Rate

1% Lower

Valuation

Discount Rate

Discount Rate

1% Higher

Net OPEB liability $ 142,620 $ 139,510 $ 137,136

J. Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following presents
the Net OPEB liability, as well as what the Net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using
healthcare cost trend rates (4.00 percent) that are 1-percentage-point lower (3.00 percent) or 1-
percentage-point higher (5.00 percent) than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

Trend 1%

Lower

Valuation

Trend

Trend 1%

Higher

Net OPEB liability $ 133,305 $ 139,510 $ 146,070

K. Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources

Gains and losses related to changes in total OPEB liability and fiduciary net position are recognized in
OPEB expense systematically over time.

Amounts are first recognized in OPEB expense for the year the gain or loss occurs. The remaining
amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB and are
to be recognized in future OPEB expenses. The recognition period differs depending on the source of the
gain or loss.

L. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2024, the District recognized OPEB expense/(income) of $8,495. 

As of the fiscal year, ended June 30, 2024, the District reported deferred outflows and inflows of
resources related to OPEB as follows:

Deferred

Outflows of

Resources

Deferred

Inflows of

Resources

Changes of assumptions $ - $ (717)
Difference between expected
 and actual experience 730 -

Total $ 730 $ (717)

30



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 6 - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CONT'D

L. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
OPEB - Cont'd

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year ended

June 30

Deferred Outflow/

(Inflows) of

Resources

2025 $ 117

2026 (104)

Total $ 13

M. Payable to the HC Plan

As of June 30, 2024, the District reported no amount payable for any outstanding amount of contributions
to the HC plan required for the year ended June 30, 2024.

NOTE 7 - PENSION PLAN

A. Plan Description

The Public Agency Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan (the "Plan") is
administered by the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS). The plan consists of a
miscellaneous risk pool and a risk safety pool, which are comprised of individual employer miscellaneous
and safety rate plans, respectively. Individual employers may sponsor more than one miscellaneous and
safety rate plan. The District does not have any rate plans in the safety risk pool.

B. Benefits Provided

The Plan provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments, and death
benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years
of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment. Classic members and PEPRA Safety
members with five years of total service are eligible to retire at age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits.
PEPRA Miscellaneous members with five years of total service are eligible to retire at age 52 with
statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits after five years of
service. The death benefit is the Basic Death Benefit. The costs of living adjustments for each plan are
applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law.

The Plan's provisions and benefits in effect as of June 30, 2024 are summarized as follows:

Employer rate plan

Miscellaneous Prior to

January 01, 2013

PEPRA Misc. on or

after January 01, 2013

Benefit formula 2.0% @ 55 2.0% @ 62

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years' service 5 years' service

Benefit payments Monthly for life Monthly for life

Retirement age 50 52

Required employee contribution rates 7% 7.75%

Required employer contribution rates 11.84% 7.68%

31



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 7 - PENSION PLAN - CONT'D

C. Contribution

Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law (PERL) requires that the employer
contribution rates for all public employers are determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall be
effective on July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. The total plan contributions are determined
through CalPERS’ annual actuarial valuation process. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated
amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an
additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The employer is required to contribute the
difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. Employer
contribution rates may change if plan contracts are amended. Payments made by the employer to satisfy
contribution requirements that are identified by the pension plan terms as plan member contribution
requirements are classified as plan member contributions.

The District’s contributions to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool plan for the year ended June 30, 2024, was
$171,732.

D. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions

As of June 30, 2024, the District reported net pension liability of $1,488,345 for its proportionate share of
net pension liability of the Miscellaneous Risk Pool.

The District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, for
the Miscellaneous Risk Pool was as follows:

Proportion - June 30, 2023 %0.030100

Proportion - June 30, 2024 %0.029760

Change - increase/(decrease) %(0.000340)

For the year ended June 30, 2024, the District recognized pension expense of $274,899. As of June 30,
2024, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions from the following sources:

Deferred

Outflows of

Resources

Deferred

Inflows of

Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience $ 76,033 $ (11,794)

Change in assumptions 89,858 -

Differences between projected and actual investment
earnings 240,976 -

Change in employer's proportion 42,661 (6,351)

Differences between employer's contributions and
proportionate share of contributions - (52,727)

Contributions subsequent to measurement date 171,732 -

Total $ 621,260 $ (70,872)

32



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 7 - PENSION PLAN - CONT'D

D. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions - Cont'd

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions will be recognized as pension expenses as follows:

Year Ending

June 30

Deferred

Outflows/

(Inflows) of

Resources

2025 $ 115,602

2026 77,513

2027 178,627

2028 6,914

Total $ 378,656

E. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Total Pension Liability 

Total pension liability for the June 30, 2023 measurement period was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of June 30, 2022, with updated procedures used to roll forward the total pension liability to
June 30, 2023. The total pension liability was based on the following assumptions: 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal in accordance with the requirements of
GASB Statement No. 68

Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 6.90%

Inflation 2.30%

Salary Increases Varies by Entry Age and Service

Mortality Rate Table* Derived using CalPERS’ Membership Data for all Funds

Post-retirement Benefit Increases Contract COLA up to 2.30% until Purchasing Power
Protection Allowance Floor on Purchasing Power applies

*The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS-specific data. The rates incorporate
generational mortality to capture ongoing mortality improvement using 80% of scale MP 2020 published
by the society of actuaries.

F. Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the
current member contribution rates and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

33



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 7 - PENSION PLAN - CONT'D

G. Long-term Expected Rate of Return

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account long-term market return
expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Projected returns for all asset classes are
estimated and, combined with risk estimates, are used to project compound (geometric) returns over the
long term. The discount rate used to discount liabilities was informed by the long term projected portfolio
return.

The expected real rates of return by asset class are as follows:

Asset Class*

Assumed Asset

Allocation 
Real Return

Years 1 - 10*,**

Global equity- cap weighted %30.00 %4.54

Global equity- noncap weighted %12.00 %3.84

Private equity %13.00 %7.28

Treasury %5.00 %0.27

Mortgage- backed securities %5.00 %0.50

Investment grade corporates %10.00 %1.56

High yield %5.00 %2.27

Emerging market debt %5.00 %2.48

Private debt %5.00 %3.57

Real assets %15.00 %3.21

Leverage %(5.00) %(0.59)

*An expected inflation of 2.30% used for this period.

**Figures are based on the 2021-22 Asset Liability Management study.

H. Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to Changes in the
Discount Rate

The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability of the Miscellaneous
Risk Pool as of the measurement date, calculated using the discount rate, as well as what the District’s
proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1
percentage-point lower or 1 percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Discount Rate

Less 1%

(5.90%)

Current

Discount Rate

(6.90%)

Discount Rate

Plus 1%

(7.90%)

Net pension liability (asset) $ 2,275,895 $ 1,488,345 $ 840,123

I. Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued
CalPERS financial report.

Additional financial and actuarial information required for GASB Statement No. 68 disclosures is located
in CalPERS’ ACFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, and the CalPERS’ GASB 68 Accounting
Valuation Report for the public agency cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan,
which is available on CalPERS’ website at https://www.calpers.ca.gov/docs/forms-publications/gasb-68.

34



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 8 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The District maintains
commercial coverage for each of those risks of loss. There have been no significant reductions in
insurance coverage from the prior year. Management believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude
any significant uninsured losses to the District. Settled claims have not exceeded this coverage in any of
the past three years.

NOTE 9 - NEW MARKET TAX CREDIT TRANSACTION

The District is a sponsor of New Markets Tax Credits (NMTC) to support redevelopment in distressed
communities. The New Markets Tax Credit Program (NMTC Program) was established by Congress in
2000 to spur new or increased investments in operating businesses and real estate projects located in
low-income communities.

The District, in collaboration with Chase Bank (Bank), entered into various agreements to provide for the
completion of the Humboldt Bay Eco-Industrial Park project, consisting of renovations and improvements
to property in Samoa, Humboldt County, California.

As part of the NMTC Program transaction, a new independent entity, Humboldt Bay Development
Association, Inc. (HBDA), a not-for-profit organization, was formed to participate under the Federal
NMTC guidelines and to complete the project improvements. Also, pursuant to NMTC Program
requirements, several financial intermediaries were established to finance the project. HBDA's
construction costs are projected to be approximately $5.20 million.

As required under the NMTC agreements with these entities, the District loaned the Chase NMTC Samoa
Investment Fund, LLC $5,849,375 and within the NMTC structure invested $398,057 in cash to the
transaction. Within the structure of the NMTC transaction, this $398,057 cash investment was offset by a
$565,000 reimbursement from HBDA for project costs incurred by the District prior to the NMTC closing,
and the funds to provide the loan to Chase NMTC Samoa Investment Fund, LLC were obtained through
proceeds in the amount of $3,906,000 for a long-term ground lease of the Samoa property to HBDA and
from a $1,560,000 loan obtained from Compass BBVA Bank.

The District's leveraged loan receivable from Chase NMTC Samoa Investment Fund, LLC bears interest
of 2.7481% and is receivable in quarterly interest-only payments from June 10, 2016, through March 10,
2023; thereafter principal and interest payments are due until March 10, 2046. During the year, the loan
was fully recovered. 

The District recorded the ground lease as unearned revenue in the liabilities section of its balance sheet,
and will recognize operating income over the course of the lease. 

To fund HBDA's initial cost of the ground lease and the remaining project costs to be incurred by HBDA,
within the NMTC structure New Markets Community Capital XVII, LLC and CNMC SUT-CDE 69, LLC
loaned HBDA funds totaling $8,680,000. In addition, the District and HBDA signed lease agreements
under which the District is leasing-back the Samoa, California property from HBDA for the District’s
operations related to that asset.

The ground lease is terminated and closed out during the fiscal year 2023-2024. The proceeds from this
termination are applied against notes receivable and to enhance the value of capital assets held by the
District.

35



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2024

NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

PG&E Agreement

During 2014, Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E) paid the District $2.0 million for the specific purpose of
procuring dredging equipment, financing initial start-up and training of the District personnel, and reuse or
disposal of dredged material. As part of the agreement, the District has committed to perform a one-time
dredging of certain real property owned by PG&E and located near King Salmon, known as Fisherman’s
Channel. The District assumes responsibility for the dredging activities and repair work of Fisherman’s
Channel, and upon completion of these contract terms, the District will obtain ownership of the
Fisherman’s Channel. As of June 30, 2024, there is no PG&E funding.

NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has evaluated subsequent events through June 4, 2025, the date at which the financial
statements were available to be issued and have determined that no adjustments are necessary to the
amounts reported in the accompanying financial statements nor have any subsequent events occurred,
the nature of which would require disclosure.

36



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY
LAST TEN YEARS*

Measurement Period, June 30 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Service cost $ 2,939 $ 2,890 $ 3,392 $ 4,715 $ 3,771 $ 20,986 $ 19,877

Interest on total OPEB liability 5,556 6,071 4,454 6,905 7,841 19,794 21,313

Employer contribution as benefit
payments (37,184) (33,459) (32,364) (55,906) (75,367) (83,586) (80,371)

Experience gains/losses - 8,046 - (80,755) (5,321) (118,069) -

Changes in assumptions (1,152) (989) (9,400) 2,952 16,988 3,564 -

Net change in net OPEB liability (29,841) (17,441) (33,918) (122,089) (52,088) (157,311) (39,181)

Net OPEB liability – beginning of year 169,351 186,792 220,710 342,799 394,887 552,198 591,379

Net OPEB liability – end of year $ 139,510 $ 169,351 $ 186,792 $ 220,710 $ 342,799 $ 394,887 $ 552,198

Covered employee payroll $ 58,486 $ 6,565 $ 41,913 $ 47,351 $ 60,367 $ 276,928 $ 376,937

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of
covered employee payroll %238.54 %2,579.60 %445.67 %466.11 %567.86 %142.60 %146.50

NOTES TO SCHEDULE

1. The District's retiree healthcare plan had no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement no. 75, paragraph 4.

2. Changes in assumptions - Discount rate changed from 3.65% to 3.93%.

3. There are no statutorily or contractually established contribution requirements.

* Historical information is required only for measurement periods for which GASB 75 is applicable.
Future years' information will be displayed up to 10 years as information becomes available.

37



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY 
CALIFORNIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

LAST TEN YEARS*

June 30,

2024

June 30,

2023

June 30,

2022

June 30,

2021

June 30,

2020

June 30,

2019

June 30,

2018

June 30,

2017

June 30,

2016

June 30,

2015

Plan's Proportion of the Net
Pension Liability/(Asset) %0.029760 %0.030100 %0.030425 %0.027280 %0.010080 %0.009570 %0.009500 %0.009023 %0.007965 %0.008534

Plan's Proportionate Share of the
Net Pension Liability/(Asset) $ 1,488,345 $ 1,408,435 $ 577,703 $ 1,150,835 $ 1,033,203 $ 921,868 $ 941,780 $ 780,795 $ 546,685 $ 531,034

Plan's Covered-Employee Payroll $ 1,024,217 $ 832,988 $ 788,024 $ 764,169 $ 764,169 $ 889,228 $ 794,364 $ 863,258 $ 871,775 $ 730,490

Plan's Proportionate Share of the
Net Pension Liability/(Asset) as
Percentage of Covered-
Employee Payroll %145.32 %169.08 %73.31 %150.60 %135.21 %103.67 %118.56 %90.45 %62.71 %72.70

Plan's Proportionate Share of the
Fiduciary Net Position as a
Percentage of the Total Pension
Liability %74.44 %75.98 %89.43 %77.39 %79.58 %78.81 %77.50 %80.01 %83.38 %83.19

*  Historical information is required only for measurement periods for which GASB 68 is applicable. Future years' information will be displayed
up to 10 years as information becomes available.

38



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS 
CALIFORNIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

LAST TEN YEARS*

June 30,

2024

June 30,

2023

June 30,

2022

June 30,

2021

June 30,

2020

June 30,

2019

June 30,

2018

June 30,

2017

June 30,

2016

June 30,

2015

Actuarially Determined
Contributions $ 171,732 $ 173,016 $ 150,868 $ 136,505 $ 55,338 $ 54,414 $ 53,870 $ 83,233 $ 75,091 $ 68,939

Actual Contributions During
the Measurement Period (171,732) (173,016) (150,868) (136,505) (55,338) (54,414) (53,870) (83,233) (75,091) (68,939)

Contribution Deficiency
(Excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

Covered employee payroll $1,024,217 $ 832,988 $ 788,024 $ 764,169 $ 764,169 $ 889,228 $ 794,364 $ 863,258 $ 871,775 $ 730,490

Contributions as a
Percentage of Covered
Employee Payroll %16.77 %20.77 %19.15 %17.86 %7.24 %6.12 %6.78 %9.64 %8.61 %9.44

*  Historical information is required only for measurement periods for which GASB 68 is applicable. Future years' information will be displayed
up to 10 years as information becomes available.

39



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -
BUDGET TO ACTUAL - MARINA

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Marina

Budget Actual

Variance

Favorable

(Unfavorable)

OPERATING REVENUES

Sales and permits $ 12,500 $ 11,367 $ (1,133)
Slip rentals 968,000 884,271 (83,729)
Rents and leases 207,900 228,351 20,451

Other revenues 84,420 122,368 37,948

Total operating revenues 1,272,820 1,246,357 (26,463)

OPERATING EXPENSES

Payroll and related costs 508,917 605,444 (96,527)
Advertising and promotion 700 549 151
Bad debt 1,500 53,152 (51,652)
Conference and meetings 4,000 761 3,239
Dues and subscriptions - 500 (500)
Insurance - 58,221 (58,221)
Automotive expenses 200 (164) 364
Office expenses 850 237 613
Operating supplies 17,850 16,479 1,371
Outside service - 15,443 (15,443)
Legal and other professional fees - 350 (350)
Repairs and maintenance 84,400 45,280 39,120
Utilities 215,000 260,110 (45,110)
Dredging expenses 3,587,000 (2,640) 3,589,640
Capital outlay 35,750 - 35,750
Other operating expense 2,000 1,218 782

Depreciation - 225,060 (225,060)

Total operating expenses 4,458,167 1,280,000 3,178,167

Operating income (loss) $ (3,185,347) $ (33,643) $ 3,151,704

40



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -
BUDGET TO ACTUAL - MARINA

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Marina

Budget Actual

Variance

Favorable

(Unfavorable)

NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income $ - $ 677 $ 677

Other government grants 200,000 1,100 (198,900)

Total nonoperating revenues 200,000 1,777 (198,223)

NONOPERATING EXPENSES

Grant expenses - 21,710 (21,710)

Interest expenses 89,147 4,450 84,697

Total nonoperating expenses 89,147 26,160 62,987

Net nonoperating revenues and expenses 110,853 (24,383) (135,236)

Change in net position $ (3,074,494) $ (58,026) $ 3,016,468

41



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -
BUDGET TO ACTUAL - GENERAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

General

Budget Actual

Variance

Favorable

(Unfavorable)

OPERATING REVENUES

Sales and permits $ 2,000 $ 1,900 $ (100)
Slip rentals 22,000 25,818 3,818
Rents and leases 1,656,500 1,266,752 (389,748)
Harbor improvement surcharge 180,000 100,062 (79,938)

Other revenues 34,175 34,299 124

Total operating revenues 1,894,675 1,428,831 (465,844)

OPERATING EXPENSES

Payroll and related cost 1,334,168 932,323 401,845
Commissioner's fees 36,000 30,000 6,000
Advertising and promotion 1,500 4,750 (3,250)
Bad debt - 243,482 (243,482)
Communications 28,000 20,917 7,083
Conference and meetings 32,500 22,231 10,269
Dues and subscriptions 53,900 55,972 (2,072)
Elections and property tax administration fees 66,000 77,625 (11,625)
Insurance 139,519 94,073 45,446
Automotive expenses 32,500 29,531 2,969
Office expenses 26,865 64,152 (37,287)
Operating supplies 6,700 4,007 2,693
Outside services 39,050 5,804 33,246
Accounting fees 55,000 87,605 (32,605)
Repairs and maintenance 208,800 192,166 16,634
Utilities 207,350 260,294 (52,944)
Rent and leases 4,300 1,256 3,044
Redwood terminal 2 expenses 18,000 12,201 5,799
Dredging expenses - 2,085 (2,085)
Legal and other professional expenses 187,400 341,415 (154,015)
Depreciation - 165,248 (165,248)
Capital outlay 251,500 - 251,500

Other operating expenses 5,500 (47) 5,547

Total operating expenses 2,734,552 2,647,090 87,462

Operating income (loss) $ (839,877) $ (1,218,259) $ (378,382)

42



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -
BUDGET TO ACTUAL - GENERAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

General

Budget Actual

Variance

Favorable

(Unfavorable)

NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income $ 12,000 $ 419,346 $ 407,346
General property taxes 1,320,000 1,426,864 106,864
Other government grants 5,584,694 3,221,661 (2,363,033)

Other nonoperating incomes - 1,000 1,000

Total nonoperating revenues 6,916,694 5,068,871 (1,847,823)

NONOPERATING EXPENSES

Interest expenses 175,408 197,742 (22,334)
Grant expenses 5,123,924 3,323,428 1,800,496

Other nonoperating expenses 12,300 7,893 4,407

Total nonoperating expenses 5,311,632 3,529,063 1,782,569

Net nonoperating revenues and expenses 1,605,062 1,539,808 (65,254)

Change in net position $ 765,185 $ 321,549 $ (443,636)

43



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -
UNRESTRICTED AND TIDELANDS TRUST

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Unrestricted Tidelands Trust Total

OPERATING REVENUES

Sales and permits $ 6,467 $ 6,800 $ 13,267
Slip rentals and dredging/float replacement 4,339 905,750 910,089
Utility charges 37,871 53,693 91,564
Rents and Leases 1,085,493 5,509 1,091,002
Rents - tideland leases - 364,733 364,733
Late fees and interest on past due accounts 1,315 68,850 70,165
Harbor improvement surcharge - 100,062 100,062
Pilotage services - 1,951 1,951

Other revenue 5 32,350 32,355

Total operating revenues 1,135,490 1,539,698 2,675,188

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries and wages 520,313 472,089 992,402
Payroll benefits 399,202 146,163 545,365
Commissioner's fees 21,000 9,000 30,000
Advertising and promotion 1,975 3,324 5,299
Bad debts - 296,634 296,634
Communications 18,863 2,054 20,917
Conference and meetings 20,949 2,043 22,992
Dues and subscriptions 34,096 7,610 41,706
County elections fees and property taxes 77,624 - 77,624
Insurance 74,306 77,987 152,293
Automotive expenses 22,500 6,868 29,368
Office expenses 55,258 9,131 64,389
Operating supplies 16,737 3,749 20,486
Outside services 22,820 (1,572) 21,248
Permits 673 14,093 14,766
Legal and professional fees 312,101 29,664 341,765
Accounting fees 23,826 63,780 87,606
Rents and leases 1,256 - 1,256
Repairs and maintenance 73,709 163,737 237,446
Utilities 376,833 143,571 520,404
Dredging expense (555) - (555)
Redwood terminal 2 expenses 12,201 - 12,201
Other expenses 1,182 (12) 1,170

Depreciation 67,847 322,461 390,308

Total operating expenses 2,154,716 1,772,374 3,927,090

Operating income (loss) $ (1,019,226) $ (232,676) $ (1,251,902)

44



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -
UNRESTRICTED AND TIDELANDS TRUST

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Unrestricted Tidelands Trust Total

NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income $ 232,660 $ 187,363 $ 420,023
General property taxes 1,426,863 - 1,426,863
Other government grants 900,464 2,322,297 3,222,761

Other nonoperating incomes 1,000 - 1,000

Total nonoperating revenues 2,560,987 2,509,660 5,070,647

NONOPERATING EXPENSES

Interest expenses 12,305 189,887 202,192
Grant expenses 1,195,526 2,149,611 3,345,137

Other nonoperating expenses 7,893 - 7,893

Total nonoperating expenses 1,215,724 2,339,498 3,555,222

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 1,345,263 170,162 1,515,425

Change in net position 326,037 (62,514) 263,523

Net position, beginning 12,079,258 (813,768) 11,265,490

Net position, ending $ 12,405,295 $ (876,282) $ 11,529,013

45



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -
MARINA AND GENERAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Marina General Total

OPERATING REVENUES

Sales and permits $ 11,367 $ 1,900 $ 13,267
Slip rentals 884,271 25,818 910,089
Rents and leases 228,351 1,266,752 1,495,103
Harbor improvement surcharge - 100,062 100,062

Other revenue 122,368 34,299 156,667

Total operating revenues 1,246,357 1,428,831 2,675,188

OPERATING EXPENSES

Payroll and related costs 605,444 932,323 1,537,767
Commissioner's fees - 30,000 30,000
Advertising and promotion 549 4,750 5,299
Bad debts 53,152 243,482 296,634
Communications - 20,917 20,917
Conference and meetings 761 22,231 22,992
Dues and subscriptions 500 55,972 56,472
Elections and property tax administration fees - 77,625 77,625
Insurance 58,221 94,073 152,294
Automotive expenses (164) 29,531 29,367
Office expenses 237 64,152 64,389
Operating supplies 16,479 4,007 20,486
Outside services 15,443 5,804 21,247
Accounting fees - 87,605 87,605
Rent and leases - 1,256 1,256
Legal and other professional fees 350 341,415 341,765
Repairs and maintenance 45,280 192,166 237,446
Utilities 260,110 260,294 520,404
Redwood terminal 2 expenses - 12,201 12,201
Dredging expense (2,640) 2,085 (555)
Other operating expenses 1,218 (47) 1,171

Depreciation 225,060 165,248 390,308

Total operating expenses 1,280,000 2,647,090 3,927,090

Operating income (loss) $ (33,643) $ (1,218,259) $ (1,251,902)

46



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -
MARINA AND GENERAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Marina General Total

NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income $ 677 $ 419,346 $ 420,023
General property taxes - 1,426,864 1,426,864
Other government grants 1,100 3,221,661 3,222,761

Other nonoperating incomes - 1,000 1,000

Total nonoperating revenues 1,777 5,068,871 5,070,648

NONOPERATING EXPENSES

Interest expenses 4,450 197,742 202,192
Grant expenses 21,710 3,323,428 3,345,138

Other nonoperating expenses - 7,893 7,893

Total nonoperating expenses 26,160 3,529,063 3,555,223

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) (24,383) 1,539,808 1,515,425

Change in net position $ (58,026) $ 321,549 $ 263,523

47



COMPLIANCE SECTION



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Commissioners
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District
Eureka, California

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type
activities of Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District (the "District"), as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
the District’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 4, 2025.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct misstatements, on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

48



Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

San Diego, California
June 4, 2025

49



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

SECTION I - SUMMARY OF AUDITOR'S RESULTS

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

 Material weakness(es) identified? No

 Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not considered to be
material weakness? None reported

 Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No

50



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FINDINGS

There are no findings in the current year to report.

51



HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT

STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR'S FINDINGS AND RESPONSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

There were no findings reported in the prior year.

52



COMMISSIONERS 
1st Division 
  Aaron Newman 
2nd Division 
  Greg Dale 
3rd Division 
  Stephen Kullmann 
4th Division 
  Craig Benson 
5th Division 
  Jack Norton 

Humboldt Bay  
Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

(707) 443-0801
P.O. Box 1030

Eureka, California 95502-1030 

 

STAFF REPORT - HARBOR DISTRICT MEETING 
June 12, 2025 

TO: Honorable Board President and Harbor District Board Members 

FROM: Chris Mikkelsen, Executive Director 

DATE: June 1, 2025 

TITLE: Consideration of Initial Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Budget Preparation Step 3 - Preliminary Goals for Port 
Operations, Conservation and Recreation Programs, Administrative Services, and General 
Operating and Staffing 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board direct staff to implement the proposed 2025-
2026 Fiscal Year Budget Preparation Schedule and receive a report on the proposed capital expense projects 
for Port Operations, Conservation and Recreation Programs, Administrative Services, and General Operating 
and Staffing. 

SUMMARY: Beginning at the April 10th meeting, staff will present the Capital expense projects under 
consideration for the 2025-2026 fiscal year and the projected costs of each. These items do not include the 
recurring maintenance and operations costs, which will be presented in the final draft budget brought to the 
commission for approval in June. 

DISCUSSION: The schedule below will be used to review goals, revenue, and expenditures by programmatic 
activity. These meetings will double as strategy sessions to clearly understand where each activity is financially 
and what we can reasonably accomplish within our financial means. Staff will work with the Budget 
Subcommittee to prepare the budget and bring the complete budget to the Board for approval. 

Date Meeting Type Purpose 
April 10 Regular A) Preliminary Goals, Income, and Expenditures:

1. Woodley Island Marina
2. Fields Landing Boat Yard
3. Dredging

May 8 Regular A) Preliminary Goals, Income, and Expenditures:
1. Redwood Marine Terminal I
2. Redwood Marine Terminal II
3. Shelter Cove

June 12 Regular A) Preliminary Goals, Income, and Expenditures:
1. Port Operations
2. Conservation and Recreation Programs
3. Administrative Services
4. General Operating and Staffing
5. Follow-up discussion from previous budget meeting topics

B) Adopt Preliminary Budget
July 10 Regular Budget Adoption and Transmission to the County Board of Supervisors 

Agenda Item 11d.


	DATE: June 12, 2025
	1. Sequoia Invest. Fairhaven Terminal Dock Repair-Permit 2025-01-SR WITH ATTACH.pdf
	2. Attachment A - Resolution 2025-02 Fairhaven Terminal Dock.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO. 2025-02

	3. Permit 2025-01 Fairhaven Terminal Dock.pdf
	Permit No. 2025-01     601 Startare Drive


	1. 2025-03 HBNWR Long Pond Restoration_SR WITH ATTACH.pdf
	2. Attachment A - Resolution 2025-03 Long Pond.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO. 2025-03

	3. Permit 2025-03 - Long Pond Tidal Wetland Enhancement.pdf
	Permit No. 2025-03


	Audit SR 06 12 2025 WITH ATTACH.pdf
	AuditReportHBHRCD2024.pdf
	Table of Contents
	Independent Auditor's Report
	Management's Discussion and Analysis
	Table 1 - Net Position
	Table 2 - Rev., Exp and Change in Net Position
	Table 3 - Changes in Net Position
	Table 4 - Summary of Revenue
	Table 5 - Final Budget vs Actual
	Table 6 - Capital Asset
	Table 7 - Debt and Other Long-Term Liabilities

	Financial Statement
	Statement of Net Position Proprietary Fund
	Statement of Rev., Exps and Change in Net Position - Proprietor Fund
	Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Fund

	Notes to Financial Statements
	Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
	A. Reporting Entity
	B. Nature of Activities
	C. Basis of Presentation
	D. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting
	E. Budget and Budgetary Accounting
	F. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
	G. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments
	H. Capital Assets
	I. Estimates
	J. Net Position
	K. Property Taxes
	L. Postemployment Benefits other than Pensions
	M. Pensions
	N. Leases
	O. Compensated Absences
	P. Current Accounting Pronouncements
	Q. Future Accounting Pronouncements

	Note 2 - Cash and cash equivalent
	Note 3 - Capital Assets
	Note 4 - Notes Payable
	Note 5 - Lease Receivables
	Note 6 - Other Postemployment Benifits
	Note 7 - Pension Plan
	Note 8 - Risk Management
	Note 9 - New Market Tax Credit Transaction
	Note 10 - Commitment and contingency
	Note 11 - Subsequent Events

	Required Supplementary Info
	Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability
	Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 
	Schedule of contributions for the last ten years California Public Employees Retirement System
	Statement of revenues and expenses - Budget to Actual - Marina
	Statement of revenues and expenses - Budget to Actual - General

	Supplementary Info
	Statement of revenues and expenses -unrestricted and tidelands trust
	Statement of revenues and expenses - Marina & General

	Compliance Section
	IAR GAS Report

	Schedule of Findings and Responses
	Prior Year Audit Findings





